
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 

 
Tuesday, 17 September, 2019 

 
10.00 am 

 
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 



 

 



 

 

 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 

Tuesday, 17 September, 2019, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell 
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone 

  

 Telephone 03000 416172 
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting  

 
Membership  
 
Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Ida Linfield (Vice-Chairman), Ms J Bayford, Ms D Bride, 
Mr J Burden, Mr T Byrne, Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunstan, Mrs L Game, 
Ms C Goodwin, Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, Mrs S Hammond, 
Mr A Heather, Mr G Lymer, Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer, Ms C Smith, 
Ms S Vaux and three vacancies. 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 
 
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports. 
 

1 Apologies and substitutes  

2 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 25 July 2019 (Pages 5 - 16) 

3 Chairman's Announcements  

MOTION TO EXCLUDE PRESS AND PUBLIC FOR EXEMPT BUSINESS 

 That, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 
Paragraph 1 – Information relating to any individual 
 
Paragraph 2 – Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 
 



 

 

4 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) - this 
will include the showing of two short films featuring young people at participation 
events, for which the meeting will need to be very briefly closed to the press and 
public  

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS (meeting re-opens to press and public) 

5 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Pages 17 - 18) 

6 Report on Looked After Children and Custody (Pages 19 - 26) 

7 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 27 - 38) 

8 Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 2018 / 2019 and Kent Adoption Service 
Business Plan 2019 (Pages 39 - 96) 

9 SEND Action Plan / Children in Care with Education, Care and Health Plans (6 
monthly review) (Pages 97 - 100) 

10 Looked After Children Annual Report for the Kent Clinical Commissioning 
Groups, April 2018 - March 2019 (Pages 101 - 124) 

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda, the only exempt item was part of item 4.  During this 
and any such items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 416814 
 
 
Monday, 9 September 2019 
 
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report. 
 
 



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Sessions House on 
Thursday, 25 July 2019. 
 
PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr R H Bird (Substitute for Ida Linfield), 
Mr D L Brazier (Substitute for Mr M J Northey), Ms D Bride, Mr J Burden, Mr T Byrne, 
Ms S Dunstan, Mr R Graves, Ms S Hamilton, Mrs S Hammond, Mr A Heather, 
Mr G Lymer, Mr P Manning (Substitute for Mr T Doran), Mrs S Prendergast, 
Ms N Sayer and Ms C Smith 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr R W Gough 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Dunkley CBE (Corporate Director for Children Young 
People and Education), Ms N Anthony (Head of Fostering, East), Ms R Calver 
(Service Manager for Transition, 18+ Leaving Care Service), Ms J Carpenter 
(Participation and Engagement Manager, Virtual School Kent), Mrs M Robinson 
(Management Information Unit Service Manager), Paul Startup (Head of Care 
Leavers 18 plus Service), Mr M Vening (Head of Fostering, West) and 
Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
165. Membership  
 
It was noted that Mr J Burden had joined the Panel in place of Ms K Constantine.  
 
166. Apologies and substitutes  
(Item 1) 
 
Apologies for absence had been received from Julianne Bayford, Tony Doran, Lesley 
Game, Stuart Griffiths, Ida Linfield, Michael Northey and Sarah Vaux.  
 
Rob Bird was present as a substitute for Ida Linfield, David Brazier for Michael 
Northey and Paul Manning for Tony Doran. 
 
167. Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 29 May 2019 (Takeover Day)  
(Item 2) 
 
It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the Corporate Parenting Takeover Day on 29 
May 2019 are correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.  There were 
no matters arising.  
 
The Chairman advised the Panel that its minutes, once approved, would be 
submitted to the next County Council meeting to be noted. 
  
168. Chairman's Announcements  
(Item 3) 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

The Chairman once again said how proud she was of the way in which the VSK 
Participation team had put together the Takeover Day and the way in which the 
young people taking part had conducted themselves.   
 
169. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC)  
(Item 4) 
 
1. Sophia Dunstan (Participation Support Assistant), Reece Graves (Senior 
Apprentice Participation Worker) and Tom Byrne (Apprentice Participation Worker) 
from the Virtual School Kent (VSK) Participation Team gave a verbal update on the 
work of the OCYPC, the Super Council and the Young Adult Council and forthcoming 
participation events. The text of this update will be appended to these minutes. They 
responded to comments and questions, including the following:- 
 

a) referring to work on ‘the language of care’, the Chairman said she found it 
sometimes difficult to understand the language used;  

 
b) the Chairman advised members of the Panel that they should always feel 

free to contact the VSK Participation team to find out about and link into 
work being done with children and young people in care;   

 
c) the Corporate Director of Children, Young People and Education, Matt 

Dunkley, suggested that there be a team which would work with 
adolescents.  This was welcomed as giving an opportunity for young 
people to have input into what they thought should be the qualities of 
people working with adolescents and what were the most important 
aspects of such work.  The Chairman added that elected County Council 
Members could also benefit from some training in this area to raise their 
understanding of work with adolescents.  Dan Bride (Assistant Director, 
Adolescent and Open Access, West) undertook to write to Members about 
a training day she was organising in September 2019; and  

 
d) Mr Dunkley suggested that a co-production seminar would also be helpful, 

to allow members and young people to discuss together how the corporate 
parenting role of all elected County Council Members could be developed 
and clarified.  

 
2. It was RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks.  
 
170. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member  
(Item 5) 
 
1. The Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education, Roger 
Gough, gave a verbal update on the following issues:- 
 
Update on Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) – there were 
currently 315 UASC under 18, more than the same time one year ago, and 893 over-
18 UASC care leavers.  The National Transfer Scheme was based on the principle of 
no local authority having any more than its share of the UASC in the country, which 
was set at 0.07% of its population of children and young people. Kent’s share on this 
basis would be 231 UASC.  137 UASC had arrived in the county so far in 2019, 
compared with 172 arrivals for the whole of 2018. Changes to the financial support 

Page 6



 

available had been reviewed, which would help the rates of support available for 16-
17-year olds but leave a shortfall of funding for care leavers, so the County Council 
would continue to press for a review of this area of funding. Government funding of 
£407,000 had been allocated to Kent from the Controlling Migration Fund. This could 
be spent on housing, emotional health and welfare services and language support for 
UASC. 
Housing-Related Support for young people – the Council’s policy on this had been 
reviewed early in 2019, to target key groups; children in care, care leavers and 16- 
and 17-year olds at risk of becoming homeless, who would previously have been 
housed in unregulated accommodation. New accommodation providers were being 
commissioned. Although there had been some problems, for example, Trinity Foyer 
closing, many issues were now resolved, and recent discussions with borough and 
district councils had been positive.   
 
2. Mr Gough, Sarah Hammond (Director of Integrated Children’s Services, East) 
and Mr Dunkley then responded to comments and questions, including the following:- 
 

a) asked what proportion of UASC care leavers stayed in Kent after leaving 
care, and with how many the Council was still in contact, Ms Hammond 
advised that the Council was in touch with 85.2% of UASC care leavers 
who had ever been in the care of the county.  This figure would be reported 
to the Department for Education in the regular return. Of the 893 UASC 
care leavers, 345 were living outside the County Council’s administrative 
area, but 254 of these were living in Medway.  Because many UASC care 
leavers lived in Medway and the Canterbury area, money from the 
Controlling Migration Fund would be focussed on these areas. Mr Gough 
added that the services which the County Council was obliged to provide 
for care leavers up to the age of 25 had a take-up rate of 50% among 
citizen children but 100% among UASC care leavers;  

 
b)  Nancy Sayer (Designated Consultant Nurse for Looked After Children) 

added that any increase in the number of UASC in the county also had an 
impact on NHS resources and its ability to meet its targets, for example, for 
initial health assessments. The East of Kent in particular had higher 
numbers of UASC.  The NHS did not receive any additional Government 
funding to cope with increases in UASC numbers, and whenever the 
Council lobbied the Government for additional funding it would always be 
helpful to highlight this fact. Mr Gough undertook to address this issue with 
the new Immigration Minister, to seek to continue the progress which had 
previously been made in this area; and  

 
c) Mr Dunkley suggested that he write to the new Secretary of State for 

Education and the Children’s Minister and invite them to attend a future 
meeting to see how the Panel engaged and worked with young people.  

 
3. Mr Dunkley reported on a recent event on Lifelong Links which he and 
Chelsea Goodwin (Apprentice Participation Worker) had attended and the work 
Chelsea had undertaken to ensure that the language used in the literature was as 
clear as possible for children and young people to understand. The Panel thanked 
and congratulated Chelsea on her commitment to this work and for her contribution to 
making the Lifelong Links project as easy as possible for young people to understand 
and relate to. 

Page 7



 

 
4. It was RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted, with thanks, and Chelsea 

Goodwin be thanked and congratulated on her commitment to this work and 
for her contribution to making the Lifelong Links project as easy as possible for 
young people to understand and relate to. 
         

171. Challenge Card Update  
(Item 6) 
 
1. Jo Carpenter (Participation and Engagement Manager, Virtual School Kent) 
and Caroline Smith (Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting) introduced the report 
and explained that research on the feasibility of a Council Tax exemption for care 
leavers had been completed and that work was continuing with district and borough 
councils and other services which also took a share of council tax, for example, Kent 
Police and the Kent Fire and Rescue Service. When this was complete, meetings 
would take place with commissioners in each area.  Mr Gough added that he would 
be meeting the Police and Crime Commissioner shortly and would discuss the issue.  
 
2. The Panel was reminded that, subsequent to the challenge card being 
discussed at a Panel meeting, a motion was tabled at and supported unanimously by 
the full Council.  The scheme once again received the full support of the Panel and 
the work being undertaken to move it forward was welcomed.  Mr Dunkley advised 
that he hoped the exemption could be established in time for the issue of Council Tax 
bills for the 2020/21 financial year.  

 
3. It was suggested that the Panel Chairman and Cabinet Member write to all 
elected County Councillors who also served as district and borough councillors to 
urge them to promote and support the exemption at their local councils.   

 
4. It was RESOLVED that the progress achieved on the current challenge card 

be welcomed and the Panel Chairman and Cabinet Member write to all 
elected County Councillors who also served as district and borough councillors 
to urge them to promote and support the exemption at their local councils.   
 

5. The Panel Chairman then suggested a new challenge: that young people ask 
to be invited to a meeting of the Cabinet, at which they could ask each Cabinet 
Member about their portfolio and what they could do within that portfolio to promote 
the corporate parenting role. This was welcomed.   
 
172. Performance Scorecard for Children in Care  
(Item 7) 
 
1. Maureen Robinson (Management Information Unit Service Manager) 
introduced the report and explained that there had been very little change in 
performance since last reporting to the Panel, although there had been small 
reductions to some targets, including those relating to interviews with children and 
young people returning after episodes of being missing.  Ms Hammond added that 
the Council did not take the decision to reduce performance targets lightly but had 
done so after feedback from young people that it was sometimes very difficult to talk 
about their reasons for going missing and that the 72-hour deadline in the 
performance target was too early. More would be willing to talk about their reasons if 
they had longer to prepare.  

Page 8



 

 
2. Mrs Robinson and Ms Hammond responded to comments and questions from 
the Panel, including the following:- 

 
a) the adoption process in Kent seemed to be quicker than in other areas but 

was held up by the court process.  Ms Hammond explained that the Family 
Division, a group of 20 High Court Judges, had a new President, Sir 
Andrew McFarlane, who had stated his commitment to ensuring that 
decisions made in adoption proceedings had taken account of any and all 
family members who could offer the child a home. Identifying and 
assessing each of these could take a lot of time. She confirmed that Kent’s 
adoption process had a good reputation nationally; 

 
b) asked about a very recent increase in the number of children in care being 

frequently absent from school, Paul Manning (Deputy Head for Key Stage 
5, Virtual School Kent (VSK)) explained that VSK was aware of this issue 
and was working closely with schools to address it.  Ms Bride added that 
this was probably due to the time of year. As the end of the school year 
approached, some young people, particularly those not intending to go on 
to the next academic year, stopped bothering to attend school; and  

 
c) asked if these absences were more prevalent in primary or secondary 

schools, Ms Hammond undertook to look into this and suggested that this 
detail be included in the next scorecard.  

 
3. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the children in care 

scorecard be noted, with thanks, and future scorecards include detail of the 
percentage split of seasonal absences between primary and secondary 
schools.   

 
173. Kent Fostering Service Annual Report 2018/2019 and Kent Fostering 
Service Business Plan 2019  
(Item 8) 
 
1. Caroline Smith introduced the report and introduced Mark Vening, Head of 
Fostering, West, who had been appointed as part of the service restructure in April 
2019.  With Nicola Anthony, Head of Fostering, East, Ms Smith responded to 
comments and questions from the Panel, including the following:- 
 

a) the Chairman referred to the range of community events around the county 
which the fostering team had attended to promote the work of the fostering 
service and further the recruitment campaign; 

 
b) concern was expressed that the number of foster carers had fallen and that 

recent promotional events had not generated the interest hoped for. What 
might be needed was a more innovative approach.  Ms Smith explained 
that a national shortage of foster carers had prompted a different approach 
to promotion and recruitment. The recent recruitment event in Maidstone, 
which had been jointly arranged with the Kent Adoption Service, Catch 22 
and Medway Council, had been an experimental approach, however this 
did not attract the expected level of attendance. More smaller-scale drop-in 
events were being arranged, for example, using local libraries and coffee 

Page 9



 

shops.  Feedback from events had indicated that people would welcome 
smaller, local, informal opportunities to find out about fostering. Ms 
Anthony added that 28 new foster carers had been recruited so far this 
year, which was an increase on the same time last year;   

 
c) asked what proportion of foster carers had their own children, either 

younger or adult, and how the Council could reach those parents via 
promotions at schools, Ms Anthony advised that the majority of foster 
carers had older children but those with school-age children were being 
reached via initiatives with schools, for example, by including promotional 
material in the child’s school book bag; and 

 
d) asked about the Sense of Belonging service, Ms Smith advised that, due to 

the popularity of this service, the Sense of Belonging team would be 
extended to include placement stability workers, which would increase the 
social workers’ capacity to undertake follow-up work. Using a range of 
outdoor centres would help support placement stability.  

 
2. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the Kent Fostering Annual 

Report and Business Plan be noted, with thanks.  
 

174. Review of Corporate Parenting Pilot Scheme: Kent County Council acting 
as a rent guarantor for Care Leavers, including accommodation types  
(Item 9) 
 
1. Paul Startup (Head of Care Leavers 18+ Service) introduced the report and 
summarised the outcomes of the pilot of the rent guarantor scheme, which had run 
successfully for six months. There had been no defaulters and no rent arrears and 
hence no cost to the County Council. All those who had been helped by the pilot 
scheme were happily accommodated and staying put, except one who had left a 
university place for reasons unrelated to any accommodation issues. To help develop 
and promote the scheme, the service was seeking a Member Champion and to 
change the strategy to seek young people earlier who could benefit from the scheme, 
allowing them time to establish themselves and build a reputation and a good 
relationship with a landlord.  An example of this was a shared housing scheme in 
Canterbury which trained young people in preparation for independent living.  
 
2. The success of the pilot scheme was welcomed and Ms Sarah Hamilton 
volunteered to be the Member Champion.   

 
3.  Concern was expressed that the scheme would target and benefit young 
people who presented no risk in terms of defaulting on rent payments at the expense 
of those who were less stable but who still needed accommodation. Mr Startup 
assured the Panel that the assessment process in the scheme sought to avoid 
causing any stress to young people who were not ready to take on a tenancy by 
encouraging them to do so prematurely.  It was important also to consider that 
anyone who was not sufficiently mature to commit to and manage a tenancy 
successfully would present a higher risk to the County Council as a potential 
defaulter. He emphasised, however, that the County Council was not excluding 
young people on this basis but would provide training to prepare and support more 
young people towards being able to take on tenancies.  He assured the Panel that 
anyone unable to secure a tenancy using the scheme was not at risk of becoming 

Page 10



 

homeless. The County Council’s range of accommodation options offered care 
leavers options to suit different abilities and preferences and sought to build their 
confidence to take on and manage their own accommodation, of whatever type.  Ms 
Hammond added that, although the County Council had a duty to ensure that its care 
leavers were appropriately accommodated, it did not have a duty to provide that 
accommodation.  She advised the Panel that the 26 young people who were part of 
the pilot scheme would not have been able to manage a tenancy otherwise as they 
had access to no other form of guarantee.   
 
4. It was suggested that a further update on the development of the rent 
guarantor scheme be made to the Panel in six months’ time.  

 
5. It was RESOLVED that:- 

 
a) the review of the rent guarantor pilot scheme, and the information set out in 

the report about other types of accommodation, be noted;  
 

b) the rent guarantor scheme continue to be developed, with Ms Sarah 
Hamilton acting as a Member Champion of the scheme; and  

 
c) a further update report on the development of the scheme be made to the 

Panel in six months’ time.   
            
175. Narrowing the attainment gap between Children in Care and their peers  
(Item 10) 
 
1. Paul Manning introduced the report in place of Tony Doran, Head Teacher, 
Virtual School Kent. 
 
2. It was RESOLVED that the work of the Virtual School Kent in promoting the 

attainment and progress of its children and young people in care be noted and 
welcomed.  

 
 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Thursday 25th July 2019 

Corporate Parenting Panel Update- 

On behalf of the Children in Care Councils and Young Adult Council 

 

The Participation Team have had a very busy couple of months since the last CPP 

meeting. We are delighted that 3 new apprentices Alex, Amy and Shyanne have 

joined the team, and that we are able to expand our team to take on more work and 

support more young people. 

Co-Production  

In early July 2019 the Participation Team delivered a training morning to the new Adolescent 

and Open Access Service – East and South division. We spoke about the importance of Co-

Production and codesigning new services alongside young people’s views on what they 

want from their service. The training was attended by 41 staff members from across the 

Adolescent and Open Access service as well as their Assistant Director – Hema Birdi.  

Our aims for the session were: 

 Developing an understanding of Coproduction, why we do it and the benefits of 

coproduction for the organisation and for young people 

 An insight to young people in Kent, learning about the pressures & stressors they face in 

Kent today 

 Planning for coproduction and how to make it a success for young people and the 

organisation 

 Understanding where coproduction already happens within the service and how to 

engage with these different groups 

 Action planning – time to think about and work with the young people to plan how 

children, young people and parents/ carers can be involved in the design, delivery and 

evaluation of services. 

 

In the afternoon we worked in groups with the service to come up with what the ideal 

Adolescent Worker should be like. The whole day was a success with great feedback from 

the Adolescent Service, saying they learned some new and valuable ways to improve Co-

production in their service and bring new ideas and ways of working. 

 

Young Adult Council 

On the 4th July the Young Adult Council met in Whitstable and discussed ‘The Language of 

Care’. The YAC members were asked within their experience do the adults/ professionals 

always use language that they understand or like when taking about their care. Are there 

any phrases that don’t meant anything to them or that they felt stereotyped them? 

Page 13



 
It was explained to the YAC members that TACT Fostering with the help of Children in Care 

Councils throughout the country created a dictionary of alternate words and phrases 

commonly used about care experienced young people.  

YAC have now produced a Kent document ‘Mind your Language’ that we will share with you 

and professionals to help remind them to be mindful about the language they use when 

working with young people. 

 

Focus Group – Foster Carers 

On the 9th July the Participation Team ran a young person’s focus group to look at 

the Qualities of a Foster Carer Provider or Foster Carer. The group took part in two 

activities to gather their views and opinions.  

Activity 1: 

The group were asked to write as many qualities as possible that their Foster Carer 

has, they done these on petals to create a giant sunflower. Some of the qualities 

they said were:  

 Treats me like her own  

 Has boundaries  

 Makes me nice food 

 Takes me to clubs  

 Listens to me  

 Sticks up for me  

The groups came back together to feedback their suggestions and explain why that have 

chosen those qualities.  

Activity 2: 

The second activity the group were asked to rate their chosen qualities on a scale.  

The scale was a rainbow - meaning: My Foster Carer does this really well) and a 

grey cloud – meaning: My Foster Carer doesn’t do this so well).  

 

Page 14



 

 

Emotional Mental Health Conference  

On the 10th July we attended Virtual School Kent’s Emotion and Mental Health 

Conference to present the Voice of the Child – Supporting Young People in School 

section. In April the Participation Team met with various groups of Children in Care 

at their Children in Care Councils. They discussed ways their schools do & don’t help 

then when they are feeling emotionally distressed.  

At the conference, the Young People’s voices were fed back with suggestions on 

what schools can do to help with their emotional and mental health whilst they are in 

school. Some of their suggestions were: 

 Provide a quiet space away from the rest of the class that young people can 

go to if they need to calm down 

 Use timeout cards 

 Have a named member of staff available to support young people; one young 

person who was having a tough time at school began regularly checking in 

with a teacher.  This teacher’s support, guidance and care has made a 

massive difference to how he thinks about school. 

 Talk to young people about what works best for them when they are 

struggling with their emotions – this could be listening to music, using a fiddle 

toy or allowing them to work on something they enjoy, like art for a short 

period of time 

 Provide counselling, play therapy or other interventions to help children in 

care deal with their emotions – one young person had received Indian Head 

Massage to help him relax! 

Page 15



 
The attendees were asked to a pledge as Corporate Parents to the children in care 

within your schools to think about what we have spoken about today. 

 

Corporate Parenting responsibilities to KCC staff 

We are continuing to do the rounds with Caroline Smith to different KCC Services 

promoting the importance of all staff being aware of their corporate parenting 

responsibilities to our young people, and helping them think of ways they can assist 

our young people. We have just met with the Communications Team and next week 

are off to meet the corporate management team at Growth, Environment and 

Transport. 

 

Summer Activities: 

We have lots of activity days, children in care council meetings, and focus groups 

planned over the summer and look forward to reporting back to you in September. 

Page 16



 

 

 
By:  Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 

Education. 
 
 
To:  Corporate Parenting Panel – 17 September 2019 
 
 
Subject:  Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member  
 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 

 

 

 

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following:- 
 
 

1. Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) update 
 
 

 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education 

 Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young People 
and Education 

To: Corporate Parenting Panel 17th September 2019 

Subject: Report on Looked After Children and Custody 

Classification: Unrestricted  

Summary: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendation: 

This report provides an overview of Children in Care who are in the 
youth justice system. As young people who are subject to a 
custodial remand become Looked After, the report provides 
information about the experience of custody for young people. It 
describes some of the developments which aim to improve the 
experience of young people in the secure estate and achieve better 
outcomes for them. 
  
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT ON the report  

 
1 Introduction. 
 
1.1 The Corporate Parenting Panel requested a report on Children in Care who are open to 

Youth Justice.  This incorporates two groups:  
a) those who became Looked After by virtue of entering the secure estate, and  
b) those open to Youth Justice who were already Looked After.  

 
2 Young People in the Secure Estate 
 
2.1  Young People Sentenced to Custody 
 

In 2018/19 there were fourteen young people who were, prior to sentencing, Kent 
Looked After Children.  All of these were male and were aged 15-17.  In addition, there 
were a further seven young people from Kent who were sentenced to custody who were 
not Kent Looked After Children. 

 
These fourteen make up 66% of the young people who were sentenced to custody in 
Kent.  This disproportionality is unfortunately a national challenge. Kent Youth Justice 
are implementing a process of reviewing all custodial sentences to consider what 
learning can be gleaned, in order to improve outcomes for Looked After young people 
at the point of sentencing.  
 
For those young people already in care, the child’s social worker and youth justice 
worker work jointly to avoid them going into custody.  Foster carers are trained and 
supported to use restorative approaches and not criminalise children, for example when 
they have caused damage to property through their behaviour escalating at times of 
trauma and crisis.  Both staff and foster carers can access training in Trauma Informed 
Practice and the Sense of Belonging team support this by providing clinical psychology 
support to both the foster carer and the young person, at times of crisis. 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



 

In 2019, Kent introduced the Reflective Fostering Programme for foster carers which 
uses a mentalisation model to support carers to understand and manage children’s 
behaviours differently.  Initial feedback of its effectiveness has been very positive and 
based on this, Kent has secured funding to deliver the training across the county in 
2020, with some accredited evaluation planned through the Anna Freud Centre. 

 
2.2  Young People Remanded to Youth Detention and Accommodation 
 

In 2018/19 there were eleven young people who were remanded to youth detention who 
were Kent Looked After Children prior to the remand episode.  All of them were males 
and their age and place of remand are shown below: 
 

Location Aged 15 Aged 16 Aged 17 Total 

YOI Cookham Wood  1 8 9 

STC Medway 2   2 

Grand Total 2 1 8 11 

 
A further twelve were remanded to youth detention who became ‘Looked After’ for the 
period of their remand.   
 
Kent Youth Justice have an existing process of scrutiny of all custodial remands, in 
order to address disproportionality and consider any learning.   
 
Kent has a joint protocol for working with children in care in custody, which was 
reviewed and updated in 2019.  As part of this, a number of joint audits were completed 
to understand children’s journeys and areas of learning.  One of the key learning points 
was ensuring that young people were not criminalised for acts that, had they been living 
within their birth family as opposed to living with foster carers or within a residential 
home, they would not have entered the criminal justice system.  This has informed the 
training we provide to staff and foster carers.  
 

2.3 An examination of all young people who entered the criminal justice system in Kent in  
2018/19 is below: 

 

 Kent Looked After 
Children 

Other Local 
Authority Looked 
After Children 

Total number of 
all children 
including those 
not Looked After 

Court Disposal 47 (17%) 13 (5%) 284 

Out of Court 
Disposal 

36 (7%) 23 (4%) 550 

 
3.  Looked After Children in the Criminal Justice System 
 
3.1 Kent young people subject to custodial disposals are typically placed in either Medway 

Secure Training Centre (STC) or Cookham Wood Young Offenders Institute (YOI). 
Medway STC accommodates girls aged up to 17, boys aged 12 – 15 years and 
vulnerable boys aged 16 – 17 years. Cookham Wood accepts the placement of boys 
aged 15 – 17 years. Both establishments take young people primarily from the South 
East including London, and 27% of all children in custody nationally are sent to the 
South East. 

 
3.2 While the vast majority of looked-after children do not have any involvement with the 

youth justice system, they remain significantly over-represented in the system in 
Page 20



 

England and Wales when compared to their non looked-after peers.  Looked after 
children who have been looked after for at least 12 months are five times more likely to 
be convicted of offending than all children (Department for Education. Children looked 
after in England including adoption: 2017 to 2018). 
 

3.2 At least 60% of the young people in the UK who access youth justice services present 
with speech, language and communication difficulties which are largely undiagnosed 
(Language and communication difficulties in juvenile offenders. International Journal of 
Language and Communication Disorders). 

 
3.3 In recognition of the challenges that young people who have been Looked After face, 

the Home Office, Ministry of Justice and the Department of Education published 
(November 2018) a national protocol on reducing unnecessary criminalisation of looked 
after children and care leavers.   
 
Key points in the protocol include: 
 

 Restorative and diversionary approaches should underpin responses, whether the 
behaviour occurs in a child’s placement or the wider community   

 Many of the causes of youth offending lie beyond the reach of the youth justice system. 
All professionals should pursue a child-centred approach based on a broad range of 
agencies providing an integrated, co-ordinated and pro-active response to preventing 
and addressing challenging or offending behaviour. 

 Children/young people already within the youth justice systems need protection from 
escalation. Persistent and more serious offending can indicate that the young person 
has significant unmet needs and responses to offending should recognise this. 

 Children/young people on remand or custodial sentence are often highly vulnerable with 
multiple risks and needs. They require careful multi-agency oversight and support, 
including from youth offending teams, Children’s Services, health services and custodial 
facilities. 

 The protocol strongly dissuades authorities from involving the police in incidents which 
occur in residential care placements.  It also states that a local authority responsible for 
a child who is charged with a criminal offence should ensure the child is represented by 
a solicitor with expertise in youth justice. 
 
As a Corporate Parenting Panel, we should seek to reassure ourselves that we are 
meeting these standards. The Kent Reducing Reoffending Board has led on the 
production of a Kent protocol which is endorsed by Kent’s Youth Justice Service, 
Children’s Social Work Service and Kent Police. 
 

4 Custody experiences   
 
4.1  Cookham Wood YOI 
 

Cookham Wood YOI was inspected by Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Prisons in 
December 2018. The initial report assessed the YOI against four criteria: Safety; Care; 
Purposeful Activity and Resettlement. The report found ‘Care’ to be of a reasonably 
good standard. All other areas were judged to be ‘not sufficiently good’. 

 
The action plan published in April 2019 identifies that the relationships between young 
people and staff are generally good; the Youth Council is very effective, and the child-

Page 21



 

focussed healthcare is impressive. The rewards-based behaviour management policy 
was positively assessed, and the resettlement support is generally good.  
 
Findings include that the levels of violence in Cookham Wood are too high and there 
are weaknesses in safeguarding referrals. Young people’s attendance at education was 
not adequate and the teaching quality in education required improvement. The lack of 
suitable accommodation on release was a serious concern for some children. 
 
Based on this feedback, Kent were concerned for their children in care placed in 
Cookham Wood and asked The Young Lives Foundation (YLF) to ensure that this 
cohort of children were provided with an advocacy service as part of our core advocacy 
offer for children in care.  This service is being delivered between Cookham Wood and 
YLF, who are currently training their volunteers to provide this service. 

 
4.2      Medway STC 
 

Medway STC was inspected in December 2018 by Ofsted, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate 
of Prisons and the Care Quality Commission. The establishment takes about 70 young 
people, who are either on remand or sentenced. The report noted that the 
establishment requires improvement to be good. Education and health provision were 
assessed as ‘good’ but how well young people are helped and protected, and the 
effectiveness of managers and leaders were judged as ‘requiring improvement to be 
good’. 

 
The report identified that some children were making good overall progress and staff 
understood why others were not. There was good joint working by staff from all 
disciplines across the centre. The centre challenged Local Authorities when necessary. 
 
It identified that the previous impact of having a Social Worker in post had not been 
sustained when the post was vacant. The support to young people from Local 
Authorities was variable. No young people from Kent were in Medway STC at the time 
of the inspection. 

 
4.3 Secure Schools  

 
In September 2015, the experienced school head and child behaviour expert Charlie 
Taylor (Chari of the National Youth Justice Board) was commissioned by the 
government to explore how the UK deals overall with children and young people who 
break the law. His review (2016) noted that: 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Two urgent priorities arose from that report: 
 
1. to ensure that youth custody is a safe, secure environment in which young people 

can learn and reform. A recent HMIP report found that 46% of boys had, at some 

once children and young people are in custody the 
outcomes are not good enough. Levels of violence and 

self-harm are too great and reoffending rates are 
unacceptably high, with 69% of those sentenced to custody 

going on to commit further offences within a year of their 
release” 

 
 

Page 22



 

point, felt unsafe at their establishment.  
 

2. To better prepare children and young people for a life after their sentence with a 
youth custody apprenticeship scheme being developed, ensuring that all young 
people are earning or learning on release. 
 

In response to those priorities, it was announced in March 2019 that Medway STC will 
be the first Secure School in the country. It will close as an STC in 2019 before opening 
as a Secure School in late 2020.  These establishments, run by headteachers, will 
"place education and healthcare at the heart of youth custody" and will be run by not-
for-profit academy trusts with expertise in working with children. Medway Secure 
School will be run by the Oasis Charitable Trust. 
 

5  Support from KCC for young people in custody 
 
5.1 Kent Young people in custody are all allocated a Youth Justice worker. The young 

person is visited within 5 working days, and a planning meeting with family and relevant 
professionals takes place within 15 working days. The Youth Justice worker is the point 
of contact for the YOI or STC to ensure that the young person has regular contact with 
family members, significant professionals and friends with whom contact has been 
approved. 
 

5.2 Young people who are Looked After (both those who are securely remanded and those 
who were Looked After prior to a Court disposal) are supported by both their Children’s 
Service Social Worker and the Youth Justice worker. The two professionals attend all 
meetings and coordinate plans.  The focus of the plan is to support a positive 
reintegration back into the community. The Children’s Services Social Worker 
undertakes statutory visits as they would for any Looked After Child.  
 

5.3 The young person is allocated a worker within the STC or YOI who is responsible for 
seeing the young person regularly and passing on any information or concerns to the 
family and professionals. In the last 12 months, following feedback from young people, 
both establishments have installed telephones in every young person’s room. This 
enables the young person to contact approved people at any time. The establishments 
report that this has improved the young people’s sense of wellbeing and reduced levels 
of anxiety.    

 
6 Care Leavers in Custody 
 
6.1 Kent currently has 46 young people who are care leavers within custody.  33 are citizen 

children and 13 are unaccompanied asylum young people.  The Care Leavers Service 
have a dedicated Care Leaver and Asylum Offending Co-Ordinator allocated to work 
with our young people in custody and this position is funded through the Controlling 
Migration Fund.  Having this dedicated role has made a significant different to 
supporting young people, particularly in planning their accommodation and discharge 
from custody.  The Co-Ordinator has also been able to build good working relationships 
with the custody staff, as well as visiting our young people regularly, alongside their 
allocated Personal Adviser. 

 
7 Healthcare and Resettlement 
 
7.1 Both Medway and Cookham Wood have healthcare providers based in the 

establishment. These are responsible for physical and mental health services including 
substance misuse. All providers are required to liaise with community-based services so 

Page 23



 

that treatment and support can continue upon release. Each young person has a 
resettlement plan which details their health needs.  

 
7.2 Physical health treatment in the community is arranged through the young person’s GP. 

Mental health support is the responsibility of the North East London Foundation Trust, 
who are in contact with the secure establishment services and contribute to 
resettlement planning.  
 

7.3  The young person’s success upon release into the community is reliant on effective 
resettlement planning, including the securing of suitable accommodation in advance of 
release.  
 

8  Education 
 
8.1  Young people should receive 25 hours of education per week whilst in custody. This 

includes English and Maths and can be provided at a level to suit the young person’s 
needs. There is physical activity available to all young people, and Cookham Wood has 
an art department which has produced pieces of art that have won awards with the 
Koestler Trust. A range of different evening activities are available on both sites. Young 
people can be given Release on Temporary Licence to attend college interviews or 
participate in community-based learning. 

 
8.2 Resettlement plans will focus on maintaining the skills and learning of young people. 

Resettlement meetings will include the custody-based education providers, and 
representatives from Virtual Schools Kent, the Inclusion and Attendance Service, 
colleges or schools are invited whenever appropriate.  

 
8.3 Cookham Wood is in the process of training all staff in trauma-awareness as part of 

their ambition to embed trauma-informed approaches across their workforce.  
 
9 Future Plans  
 
9.1 Youth Justice and Kent’s Children’s Social Work Services are in discussion with 

Cookham Wood to develop additional services for young people. These include: 
 

 Development of a trauma-informed resettlement service. Many young people in 
custody have experienced trauma during their childhood and have not always 
had the opportunity to access services to address this. A trauma-informed 
approach will focus on developing strong, positive relationships with young 
people so that they are confident to engage with other services. 
 

 The advocacy service provided by The Young Lives Foundation for Kent Looked 
After Children will be available to all Kent young people in Cookham Wood once 
staff security clearances have been received.  

 

 The Family Group Conferencing Service and Youth Justice Service have been in 
discussion about offering restorative meetings to all Kent young people and their 
families whilst they are in custody. This could collaborate with the Family Liaison 
Worker in Cookham Wood and support effective resettlement of young people.  

 

 Cookham Wood has recently been visited by Matt Dunkley and County Youth 
Justice Board members to raise awareness of the ‘Secure Stairs’ project. Further 
visits by Dan Bride, Head of Youth Offending, are planned to explore 
opportunities to collaborate on trauma-informed resettlement.  

Page 24



 

 
 

10.  Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT on the information contained within the report. 

 
 

11 Contact Details 
      
  

Report Author 
Mark Powell 
Strategic Development Manager (Youth Justice),  
03000 411071 
mark.powell@kent.gov.uk  
 
Dan Bride 
Assistant Director, North & West Kent Adolescent Services & Head of Youth Justice 
03000 411732 
Dan.bride@kent.gov.uk    
 
Lead Director 
Stuart Collins  
Director of Integrated Children's Services West (Early Help and Preventative Services 
Lead) 
03000 410519 
Stuart.Collins@kent.gov.uk 

 

Page 25

mailto:mark.powell@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Dan.bride@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Stuart.Collins@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



By:    Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People  
                                  and Education 
 
    Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young  
                                      People and Education 
 

To:  Corporate Parenting Panel –17
th

 September 2019 
 

Subject: PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE 

Classification:  Unrestricted 
 

Electoral Divisions: All 
 

 

Summary: 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation: 

 
The performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard 
for July 2019 is attached to this report.   
 

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 

and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard. 
 

 

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed to identify and monitor progress  
on a range of areas where improvements in performance and practice will lead 
to better outcomes for children and young people. 

 
1.2 This report includes the latest Children in Care Scorecard which is for July 

2019.   
 
 

2. Context 
 

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of the key performance measures for 
Children in Care.  

 
2.2 The report is split into sections and includes a range of performance indicators 

and activity information.  
 
2.4 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 

Children’s Social Care Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared with Corporate Parenting Panel so that 
performance issues can be further understood across organisations resulting in 
improved outcomes for children and young people. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



2.5  Following feedback from Members at the previous Corporate Parenting Panel 
some amendments have been made to the format of the contents for the Key 
Activity page and to the Venn diagram covering education factors. 

 
 

3.     Summary of Performance – April 2019 
  

3.1 The report contains key statistics and performance results against the targets 
for 26 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), which are assessed using a 
Red/Amber/Green (RAG) Status.   

 

3.2  Of the 26 KPIs included in the report, the RAG status for July 2019 is as follows: 

 14 are rated Green – target achieved or exceeded 

 11 are rated Amber – below target but above floor standard 

 1 is rated Red – below floor standard 
 

3.3 The CIC Scorecard submitted to the previous Corporate Parenting Panel on 
25

th
 July 2019 was for April 2019.  During the period between the two reports 

the RAG status of five KPIs has changed.   There were improvements in 
performance for the following: 

  

 3.3.1 CIC Placement stability: Percentage with 3 or more placements in 

the last 12 months.  July’s performance was 9.7%, achieving the 
10.0% Target, moving the RAG rating from Amber (10.2% in April 
2019) to Green.  The July performance is the best level of performance 
that Kent has achieved since September 2015 (9.6%). 

 

 3.3.2 Average number of days between court authority to place a child 

for Adoption and the decision on a match. The average number of 
days reduced from 125 days to 110 days between April and July 2019, 
achieving the nationally set Target of 121 days and moving the RAG 
banding from Amber to Green. 

 

 There was a decrease in performance for the following measure: 
 

 3.3.3   Percentage of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 

working days.  Performance for this measure has moved from 85.1% 
in April 2019 to 62.4% in July 2019, with the RAG rating moving from 
Green to Red.  This change is partly due to a change in the definition 
for the measure.  Due to the National Transfer Scheme UASC were 
previously excluded from this measure as the responsibility for the 
initial health assessment would have been with the local authority 
taking responsibility for the young person. However, as that scheme is 
no longer in place the definition for this measure has been amended to 
include UASC.  This decrease in performance cannot just be attributed 
to the change in definition as the comparative figure for July 2019, 
using the previous definition, shows a reduction in performance from  

  85.1% in April to 74.4% in July 2019.  Health have advised that an 
increase in demand, particularly in East Kent, has put pressure on 
providers and the CCGs are seeking additional capacity to meet the 
increased demand    

Page 28



 3.3.4 Percentage of children in care who ceased to be looked after who 

were adopted (excluding UASC) or made subject to a Special 

Guardianship Order (SGO).  Kent’s performance for July was 14.4% 
which was a slight reduction from the April performance of 15.0% when 
it achieved the Target.  This drop in performance resulted in a change 
from a Green to Amber RAG rating.   

 

 3.3.5 Percentage of Returner Interviews Completed for Children in 

Care. Performance decreased by 0.9%, between April and July 2019, 
from to 89.3%.  As this is now below the Target of 90.0% the RAG 
banding has changed from Green to Amber.   

 
3.4   There are 12 measures which have not achieved their Target, 11 with an  
 Amber RAG rating, and 1 rated as Red.  Three of these measures are covered 
 in points 3.3.3, 3.3.4 and 3.3.5 above.  The remainder are as follows:  
 

3.4.1 Percentage of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same 

worker for the last 12 months.  Performance decreased by one 
percentage point, from 54.8% to 53.8%, which remains below the 
Target of 60.0%.  Performance has averaged at 53.0% over the last 12 
months but has improved from the July 2018 performance of 48.6%. 

 

3.4.2  Percentage of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Relatives and 

Friends (excluding UASC), performance decreased from 82.2% to 
81.4% between April and July 2019 which remains within in the Amber 
banding.  The average performance over the last 12 months is 81.3%. 

 

3.4.3 Percentage of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (excluding 

UASC), performance decreased from 76.5% to 75.3% between April 
and July 2019, remaining below the 80.0% Target.  This is a local 
measure which measures distance regardless of LA Boundary.  The 
National Measure is 20 miles from home, outside the LA Boundary and 
for 2018 was Kent was ranked 2

nd
 in terms of performance (7.0% 

compared to an average for England of 15.0%). 
 

3.4.4 Percentage of children who ceased to be looked after who 

became subject to a Special Guardianship Order (SGO), excluding 

UASC.  This has increased from 8.6% to 10.7% and is now close to 
the Target of 11.0%. 

 

3.4.5 Percentage of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working 

days for Children in Care.  There has been a very slight improvement 
in performance, from 76.4% to 76.5% between April and July 2019 
which remains below the 80.0% Target. Whilst timely completion 
remains an important factor, the focus remains on achieving the 
completion of Returner Interviews for children in care which is currently 
89.3% and just below the Target of 90.0%. 

 

Page 29



3.4.6 Percentage of Care Leavers in employment, education or training 

(of those we are in touch with).  Performance improved slightly from 
64.6% to 64.3% which remains close to the 65.0% Target.  

 

 3.4.7 Percentage of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW.  
Performance has improved from 77.8% to 79.6% and is anticipated to 
further improve following the appointment of Newly Qualified Social 
Workers due to commence in September 2019.   

 

 3.4.8 Average Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District 

Teams Only). In the period between the two reports average 
caseloads increased slightly from 15.8 to 15.9, remaining above the 
target of 15 children and young people. 

 
  

 4. Recommendations 

 

4.1 Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 

NOTE and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard. 
 

 

5. Background documents 
 

 Children in Care Scorecard – July 2019 
 
 
 

6. Contact details 
 

 Lead Officer 
 Maureen Robinson 
 Management Information Service Manager 
 03000 417164 
 Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk 

 

 Lead Director 
 Sarah Hammond 
 Director of Integrated Children’s Services 
 03000 411488 
 sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 30

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 27 August 2019

CYPE Management Information & Intelligence

Kent Children's Social Work Services

Corporate Parenting 
Scorecard

Produced by

Jul 2019

Page 31



Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 

reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 

or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 

please log a request through the CYPE Management Information & Intelligence Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 

the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 

caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating
RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators.  Also, if the denominator is lower than 5 no 

RAG rating has been applied

Floor Standard achieved but Target has not been met: Floor Standards represent the minimum 

level of acceptable performance. Floor Standards are set in Directorate Business Plans and if not 

achieved must result in management action

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set: Target 

has not been achieved

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set: Target 

has been achieved

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 27/08/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - July 2019 Page 2 of 8

Page 32

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 98.4% G 1,587 1,612 98% 98.8% 99.1%

% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 97.5% G 3,958 4,058 95% 97.6% 95.9%

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 months H SS 53.8% A 536 996 60% 54.0% 48.6%

CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 9.7% G 165 1,706 10% 10.0% 10.7% 10% *

CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 73.2% G 388 530 70% 72.7% 69.3% 70% *

% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 81.4% A 889 1,092 85% 81.9% 84.5%

% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 75.3% A 976 1,296 80% 76.6% 77.5%

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 40.9 1,390 340,140 41.0 40.8 57.8 **

Number of Kent CIC SS 1,706 1,665 1,593

Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,397 1,377 1,329

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the IRO for the last 12 months H SS 79.5% 792 996 79.5% 72.6%

% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 6.6% 21 316 6.8% 14.5%

% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 1.6% 27 1,706 1.4% 2.6%

% in P&V placements L SS 6.4% 110 1,706 6.2% 7.0%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) SS 7.8% 133 1,706 7.1% 7.7%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 13.7% 234 1,706 12.7% 14.9%

No. of current CIC with a permanent exclusion this academic year L AC YTD 1 1 0

No. on a part-time timetable L SS - 16 -

% of CIC for at least 12mths and aged 16-18 at month end with Education Status of NEET L SS 14.6% 55 377 18.3% 16.1%

% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement or Support/EHCP L SS

% of EHCPs Issued within 20 weeks for EHCP referrals made while child was CIC H AC YTD

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 91.9% G 628 683 90% 92.2% 84.6%

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 62.4% R 394 631 85% 67.1% 82.0%

% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 96.6% G 1,385 1,434 90% 96.9% 94.7% 89.4%**

% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 94.7% G 1,358 1,434 90% 95.1% 92.7% 83.4%**

% of CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health history completed H SS 100.0% G 24 24 100% 100.0% 100.0%

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 15.1 3,974 264 14.7 13.4

Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 360.5 G 27,762 77 426.0 358.4 336.8 593****

Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 110.5 G 8,290 75 121.0 110.4 117.2 190 ***

% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) or made subject to an SGO H R12M 14.4% A 78 540 15.0% 14.5% 17.0% 14%****

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 10.7% A 58 540 11.0% 9.7% 4.7%

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 8.6% 58 678 7.7% 2.9%

% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 96.4% 81 84 89.2% 81.7%

% of sibling groups that were placed together (where the plan was to place them together) H R12M 95.5% 21 22 95.5% 84.4%

% of CIC with a current Agency Decision, not Placed for Adoption L SS 3.2% 54 1,706 3.5% 3.5%

% of Returner Interviews completed for CIC H R12M 89.3% A 973 1,090 90% 91.0% 89.8%

% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC H R12M 76.5% A 834 1,090 80% 77.2% 74.6%

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 91 82 94

Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours M 31 30 38

Complaints made by CIC (or on their behalf) during the month L M 4 4 4

% of Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 90.5% G 1,346 1,487 90% 90.8% 93.7% 92.2%**

% of Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 64.3% A 956 1,487 65% 65.0% 66.3% 58.6%**

% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 92.8% A 1,510 1,628 95% 95.3% 95.1%

% of Care Leavers we are in contact with (inc UASC) H R12M 89.2% G 1,468 1,646 85% 89.0% 88.8% 90.6%**

% of Current Care Leavers with a Staying Put Arrangement H SS 5.1% 87 1,693 5.0% 5.5%

% of CIC Care Plans rated good or outstanding H R12M 79.7% G 3173 3980 75.0% 80.2% 76.3%

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) H SS 79.6% A 92.3 116.0 85% 78.4% 77.4%

Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 15.9 A 1,610 101.2 15.0 15.7 16.4

Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 68.5 G 1,706 24.9 70.0 64.3 61.7

* indicates national figures from 2016/17 (LAIT)

** indicates national figures from 2016/17 (DfE Statutory returns)

*** ALB Return 2016/17

**** Statistical First Release 2016/17

Data not available due to new system implementation

Denom

Target 

for 

19-20 N
at

io
n

al
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

(E
n

gl
an

d
 R

at
e

)1 month 

Indicator

P
o

la
ri

ty Data 

Period

Latest 

Result and 

RAG Status

Num

MISSING CHILDREN

COMPLAINTS

STAFFING

CARE LEAVERS

Jul 2019

CHILDREN

EDUCATION

HEALTH & WELLBEING

ADOPTION

1 year ago

Result

D
o

T

Result

D
o

T

QUALITY ASSURANCE

Scorecard

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 27/08/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - July 2019 Page 3 of 8

Page 33



Current Age Female Male Grand Total Age at Period of Care Start Date Female Male Grand Total

0 29 39 68 0 42 63 105

1 15 21 36 1 26 30 56

2 19 18 37 2 28 34 62

3 8 12 20 3 29 34 63

4 13 14 27 4 38 58 96

5 3 9 12 5 45 48 93

6 18 20 38 6 63 77 140

7 16 28 44 7 47 65 112

8 14 18 32 8 44 48 92

9 36 31 67 9 36 64 100

10 29 53 82 10 29 56 85

11 44 56 100 11 37 42 79

12 41 70 111 12 35 48 83

13 55 64 119 13 31 76 107

14 51 85 136 14 31 55 86

15 62 111 173 15 37 76 113

16 92 178 270 16 31 146 177

17 94 240 334 17 10 47 57

Grand Total 639 1067 1706 Grand Total 639 1067 1706

Nationality Female Male Grand Total Disability* Female Male Grand Total

Afghanistani 2 69 71 Autism or Asperger's syndrome 15 68 83

Albanian 13 13 Behaviour 10 42 52

British 577 706 1283 Communication 8 22 30

Chad 1 1 Consciousness 7 1 17

Chinese 1 1 2 Hand Function 1 1 2

Czech 6 1 7 Hearing 4 7 11

Egyptian 4 4 Incontinence 4 11 15

Eritrean 7 53 60 Learning 28 54 82

Ethiopian 2 2 Mobility 14 14 28

French 3 3 Personal Care 6 8 14

German 1 1 Vision 4 8 12

Ghana 1 1 Other DDA 9 14 23

Guinean 3 3 None 577 920 1497

Indian 1 1

Iranian 50 50 UASC? Female Male Grand Total

Iraqi 1 50 51 Yes 19 297 316

Irish 1 3 4 No 620 770 1390

Ivorian 1 1 Grand Total 639 1067 1706

Kenyan 1 1

Latvian 5 1 6 Ethnicity Female Male Grand Total

Lithuanian 2 8 10 A1 - White British 528 647 1175

Nepalese 1 3 4 A2 - White Irish 1 1 2

Nigerian 1 4 5 A3 - Any other White background 22 46 68

Not Recorded 13 15 28 A4 - Traveller of Irish Heritage 1 1

Pakistani 1 1 A5 - Gypsy/Roma 6 10 16

Polish 1 4 5 B1 - White and Black Caribbean 11 21 32

Portugese 2 1 3 B2 - White and Black African 8 5 13

Russian 2 2 B3 - White and Asian 9 7 16

Senegalese 1 1 B4 - Any other mixed background 20 10 30

Sierra Leone 2 2 C1 - Indian 4 4

Slovak 3 10 13 C2 - Pakistani 1 1

Slovenian 2 2 4 C3 - Bangladeshi 0

Somalian 1 1 C4 - Any other Asian background 9 52 61

South African 1 1 D1 - Caribbean 1 1 2

Sri Lankan 1 1 2 D2 - African 12 77 89

Sudanese 19 19 D3 - Any other Black background 2 1 3

Syrian 5 5 E1 - Chinese 1 1 2

Thai 1 1 2 E2 - Any other ethnic group 8 183 191

Vietnamese 9 23 32 Grand Total 639 1067 1706

Zimbabwean 1 1

Grand Total 639 1067 1706

Demographic Breakdown for Kent LAC as at 31/07/2019

*  If a child has more than 1 disability recorded they will be counted more than once in the table

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 27/08/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - July 2019 Page 4 of 8

Page 34



Inc UASC (1706)

234 placed OLA (inc Medway) 13.7%

133 placed OLA (exc Medway) 7.8%

Exc UASC (1390)

180 placed OLA (inc Medway) 12.9%

97 placed OLA (exc Medway) 7.0%

Inc UASC (1706)

0 Aged 0-4 209 Disability recorded

65 Aged 5-10 1497 No disability recorded

219 Aged 11-15 12% % with disability recorded

116 Aged 16-17

Exc UASC (1390)

400 209 Disability recorded

1,181 No disability recorded

15% % with disability recorded

160 Aged 0-4 11.5%

312 Aged 5-10 22.3%

652 Aged 11-15 46.7%

273 Aged 16-17 19.5%

1,397 -

Inc UASC (1693)

1081   Living in Kent 63.9%

153   Living in Medway 9.0%

348  Living in OLA (exc Medway) 20.6%

111     Not Known 6.6%

Exc UASC (798)

618  Living in Kent 77.4%

62   Living in Medway 7.8%

92   Living in OLA (exc Medway) 11.5%

26   Not Known 3.3%

Key Activity

Location of Current LAC

Age Breakdown of Current OLA LAC Cohort *

Number of LAC with Disability

Total OLA LAC

Total LAC with EHCP

Current LAC with EHCP

Location of Care Leavers

* The data behind these figures is reliant on notifications from Other Local Authorities when they place children in Kent.  CYPE MII regularly contact 

these OLAs for up to date information to validate the information held.

** An exercise was undertaken to re-open closed cases with care leaver status in 2016 reporting year, therefore, these figures do show an increase

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Jul
14

Dec
14

May
15

Oct
15

Mar
16

Aug
16

Jan
17

Jun
17

Nov
17

Apr
18

Sep
18

Feb
19

Jul
19

LAC over the last 5 years

Citizen

UASC

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1,000

Apr
15

Aug
15

Dec
15

Apr
16

Aug
16

Dec
16

Apr
17

Aug
17

Dec
17

Apr
18

Aug
18

Dec
18

Apr
19

Care Leavers**
Citizen

UASC

1,050

1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

1,400

1,450

Jul
14

Dec
14

May
15

Oct
15

Mar
16

Aug
16

Jan
17

Jun
17

Nov
17

Apr
18

Sep
18

Feb
19

Jul
19

OLA LAC PLaced in Kent *

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 27/08/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - July 2019 Page 5 of 8

Page 35



Key Stage 2

Key Stage 4

Over 20% of Kent CIC achieved a 4 or above in English GCSE and 16% of Kent CIC achieved a 4 or above in Maths GCSE

Notable individual successes were achieved despite considerable barriers – for example:

Source: VSK Annual Report. Latest Validated Outcomes Summer 2017 (Published SFR March 2018)

Kent CIC beat the National CLA Progress figure in every indicator except for maths, which it is broadly in line with. However, a higher percentage of Kent CiC achieved 

the higher maths boundary (working at Greater Depth within the expected Standard – GDS)

Educational Attainment

35.6% of Kent CIC achieved the Expected level in Combined at the end of KS2. This figure indicates the gap between CIC and All Learners has reduced. Kent CIC 

outperformed South East average for CIC in every single attainment indicator and the National average for CiC in all indicators except mathematics at end of KS2.

Outstanding Progress in reducing the gap between Kent CIC and National All Learners in the significant Combined Measure to just 29% which is a 24 percent 

improvement for Kent CIC on last year

Reduction of the gap between Kent CIC and All Learners Nationally in Writing – this is now only at 28.3%. Historically this has been a weaker subject area for CIC and 

indicates targeted work has reaped results

Kent CIC achieved 3.6% higher than the CLA National Progress scores in the Combined measure

Kent CIC’s Average P8 (Progress 8) Measure was -1.09 and the National CLA (Child Looked After) figure was -1.18. This negative score indicates the difficulties that our 

children nationally face in making progress from the end KS2 to end KS4. However, Kent CIC made more progress than CIC nationally. This progress figure was most 

positively affected by our children’s achievement in ‘Other’ subjects eg the Arts

- One UASYP achieved 5 A*-C including English and Maths despite being in the

country for only approximately 2 years- One special school student (SEMH with ASD and Learning difficulties)

achieved 4 GCSE passes- One student in Sevenoaks achieved a 4 or above in English and Maths - as well as 5 A*-C including English & Maths. She has gone on to study at College

- One student at the WK PRU achieved 2 GCSEs and a BTEC PASS despite

being placed at home and needing intensive support

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 27/08/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - July 2019 Page 6 of 8

Page 36



Data source: VSK. Figures shown are number of children

Multiple Attendance Factors July 2019

Primary School Secondary School Total

No of CiC With A Fixed Term Exclusion This Academic Year 10 104 114
No of CiC with Persistent Absence 30 199 229
No of CiC Currently on a Reduced Timetable 0 0 0
No of CiC Currently Not in Education 0 88 88
Fixed Term Exclusion with PA 2 54 56
PA Not in Education 0 6 6
Not in Education and on a Reduced Timetable 0 0 0
Exclusion and on Reduced Timetable 0 0 0
RTT Not in Exlusion 0 0 0
Exclusion PA and Not in 0 0 0
Exclusion, RTT, PA 0 0 0
RTT, PA , Not in Education 0 0 0
All Above 0 0 0

Key: 
CSE  Child Sexual Exploitation PA  Persisent Absence RTT  Reduced Timetable
Exclusions figures include children with temporary suspensions

Education Factors for Kent LAC as at 31/07/2019 and comparison with previous month

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 27/08/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - July 2019 Page 7 of 8

Page 37



Definition

Aug 18 Sep 18 Oct 18 Nov 18 Dec 18 Jan 19 Feb 19 Mar 19 Apr 19 May 19 Jun 19 Jul 19 Ave

+2.1% +3.8% +4.4% +5.7% +9.4% +10.1% +9.8% +9.4% +10.4% +11.9% +13.0% +12.3% +8.5%

In July 2019 the reports were amended to reflect that KCC came out of the National Transfer Scheme for UASC with effect from 

01/04/2018.  This means that UASC LAC starters are now included for the period in this report (01/08/2018 - 31/07/2019).

Health are recruiting additional staff to assist with the number of Health Assessments that need to be carried out.

Commentary

Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 

and inc. UASC

Number of children whose Initial Health Assessment took place more than 20 working days after their period of care started by age and 

legal status

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days

Theme Health & Wellbeing

PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 62.4%

Of the Children in Care who became looked after and therefore whose Initial Health Assessment was due in the 

period, the percentage of those whose Initial Health Assessment took place within 20 working days of the date 

they became looked after. UASC LAC Starters betwen 01/07/2016 and 01/04/2018 are excluded

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

4 1

39

127

31

11

22

4

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

In Care Accommodated

127

48

125
94

34

12

53 112
1

8

19

0

50

100

150

200

250

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

No Date Recorded Outside Timescale Within Timescale

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 27/08/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - July 2019 Page 8 of 8

Page 38



 

 

From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education 
 

 Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young 
People and Education 
 

To: Corporate Parenting Panel 17th September 2019 
 

Subject: Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 2018 / 2019 
Kent Adoption Service Business Plan 2019 
 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 
 

Summary:  
 
This Annual Report provides members with an overview of the Kent Adoption 
Service from March 2018 - April 2019.  The Annual Report outlines the structure 
and the work of the adoption service during 2018-2019. It provides detailed analysis 
of the performance of Kent’s Adoption Service in relation to children’s and adopters 
adoption journeys during this time, measured against DfE performance indicators. It 
describes the nature and use of the vast range of support that is available to 
adopted children and their adoptive parents beyond the granting of the adoption 
order. It also suggests the direction of travel in respect of the plans to progress the 
government’s vision of Regional Adoption Agencies. 
 
The Kent Adoption Service Business Plan 2019 details the areas of priority and 
development in the coming year. 
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the information 
contained within the Kent Adoption Annual Report and Business Plan 2019.   

 

1. Introduction.  
 

1.1 Kent County Council (KCC) is committed to ensuring that children can remain in the 
care of their parents and birth families wherever possible.  However, where it is not 
possible to achieve stability for the child within the birth family, we work to achieve 
alternative permanent arrangements for the child within a family setting and these 
include adoption.  
 

1.2 Kent County Council aims to ensure that the Kent Adoption Service recruits and 
approves adopters who can meet the needs of Kent children for whom adoption is the 
plan.  

1.3 Kent County Council recognises the importance of supporting adoptive families 
beyond the granting of an adoption order. 
 

1.4 The Annual Report outlines the key functions of the Kent Adoption Service and 
provides a summary of work undertaken from April 2018 to March 2019.  The annual 
report is an opportunity to celebrate our successes as a service and to identify areas 

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



 

 

for improvement as we work towards delivering an Outstanding service, which will be 
recognised as such by Ofsted. 

 
1.5 The business plan sets out how the Kent Adoption Service intends to deliver its 

services in the coming year to ensure the needs of children and adoptive parents, 
adoptees and birth parents/families are met in a timely manner and to an excellent 
standard. 
 

1.6 The plan details actions to be undertaken and how performance will be monitored. It 
uses the National Minimum Standards (NMS) applicable to the provision of adoption 
services. The NMS together with the Adoption Regulations 2013 form the basis of the 
regulatory framework for the conduct of adoption agencies. 

 
2. Body of the Annual Report and Business Plan 
 
2.1 The annual report focuses on the adoption journey for children and adoptive parents 

and how this is translated into practice. It also outlines the unique and extensive 
support provided to adoptive families. 
 

2.2 The annual report refers to the government initiative of creating Regional Adoption 
Agencies and Kent’s ongoing work in partnership with London Borough Bexley, and 
Medway Council to comply with this requirement. 

 
2.3 The Business Plan sets out the direction of the service and our ambition to achieve 

the recruitment of 80 adoptive households in the coming year. This figure is based on 
the number of single children and sibling groups placed during 2018/19, with an extra 
20% added to ensure sufficiency and choice.  
 

3. Conclusions 
 
3.1  The annual report demonstrates a dynamic adoption service, which consistently 

seeks to improve performance whilst developing in line with national initiatives and 
being at the forefront of innovative practice.  The business plan drafted for the coming 
year aims to consolidate good practice and further develop the service. Potential 
changes are on the horizon with the development of a Regional Adoption Agency and 
possible changes to the Adoption Support Fund both of which will impact on the Kent 
adoption service. However, the service will continue to keep best outcomes for 
children and adoptive families at the centre of their work and ensure that any future 
changes do not impact negatively on its service delivery. 
 
 

4.  Recommendation 
 

Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT on the information contained within the Kent Adoption Service 
Annual Report 2018/19 and Business Plan 2019.  
 

5. Background documents 
 
5.1 The Annual Report March 2018 - April 2019 including:  

Page 40



 

 

 

 Kent Adoption Service Structure Chart  Appendix A 

 Kent Adoption Business Plan   Appendix B 
 

6. Contact details 
 
Lead Officer 
Caroline Smith  
Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting 
03000 415 091 
Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk  

Lead Director 
Sarah Hammond 
Director Integrated Children’s Services 
(East) 
03000 411 488 
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk  

 

Page 41

mailto:Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KENT ADOPTION SERVICE 
ANNUAL REPORT 

 
 

Making Kent a county that works for all children 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2018/19 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
Adoption 

Page 43



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 1 of 26 

 

 

 
 

Foreword 1 
Overview 2 
Service Structure 3 
Adopter Data 9 
The Adopter Journey - Adoption Data 16 
Disruptions 19 
Commissioned Services 20 
Participation and Engagement 21 
Compliments, Feedback and Complaints 22 
Regionalisation 24 
Conclusion 25 
Appendix 26 

 
 
 

Foreword 
 

Caroline Smith, Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting 
 

As Corporate Parents, we aspire to provide children in care with the 

stability and security they need, to reach their full potential during their 

childhood. For some children, who are not able to live with their birth 

families, adoption provides them with a permanent and stable home, in 

which to thrive. 
 

I am extremely proud of the work of the dedicated staff team within Kent 

Adoption, who work tirelessly to recruit and support adopters who can 

make a real difference to a child’s future. The Annual Report is a celebration of their 

achievements and the outstanding work undertaken, to ensure children in Kent have the 

best possible adopters to care for them. 
 

Sarah Skinner, Head of Adoption 
 

Welcome to the annual report for Kent Adoption Service. As Head of 

Adoption, I am pleased to be able to say that the Adoption Service takes 

its corporate parenting responsibility extremely seriously whilst aiming to 

ensure children’s time spent in the care system is a brief as possible. 
 

For those children for whom adoption is their care plan, the Adoption 

Service aims to recruit adopters who can meet the needs of our children 

in care and provide them with a loving, stable, and supportive family life 

forever. 
 

In order to do this, we recognise that adopted children and their parents may need support 

at various times throughout a child’s life and during their transition into adulthood; thus, the 

service provides a range of interventions to meet such needs. 

Page 44



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 2 of 26 

 

 

 

Section 1: Overview 
 

Kent Adoption Service sits within the Children, Young People and Education directorate 

within Integrated Children’s Services, overseen by the Assistant Director for Corporate 

Parenting. The purpose of the annual report is to provide an overview of the service, 

including information regarding its structure, service model and delivery. 
 

The report includes performance data and analysis of the national adoption scorecard and 

other local authorities. 
 

Purpose and Objectives of Kent County Council Adoption Service 
 

The  work of  Kent County Council’s  Adoption Service  is  governed by the Adoption & 

Children Act 2002, the Adoption Agencies Regulations and Guidance 2013, and Adoption 

National Minimum Standards (Care Standards Act 2000). 
 

Kent County Council is committed to ensuring that children and young people remain in the 

care of their parents and birth families wherever possible. However, where it is not possible 

to achieve stability for the child or young person within their birth family, we work to achieve 

alternative permanent arrangements for children or young person within a family setting 

and these include adoption. 
 

The purpose of the Adoption Service is to provide a comprehensive service to meet the 

needs  of  children  who  have  been  or  may  become  adopted,  their  birth  families,  and 

adoptive parents.  This will include services in relation to those ‘looked after’ children with 

an adoption plan, and children adopted via the non-agency route, such as stepparent 

adoption. 
 

In order to achieve its aims, the Adoption Service will: 
 

• Ensure that the needs and wishes, welfare and safety of the child are at the centre 

of the adoption process. 

• Welcome those who are interested in becoming adoptive parents without prejudice, 

respond  to  them  promptly  and  provide  them  with  clear  information  about 

recruitment, assessment and approval. 

• Ensure that services are provided to all involved in the adoption process and that 

there is a recognition of the lifelong implications of adoption. 

• Assess and prepare prospective adopters who can offer children a stable and 

permanent home. 

• Provide help and support to achieve a successful and lasting placement. 

• Monitor children through the process to minimise delay. 
 

All those involved in adoption will be treated fairly, openly and with respect throughout the 

adoption process. 

Page 45



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 3 of 26 

 

 

 

Section 2: Service Structure 
 

Kent Adoption Service is led by a Head of Service and has five teams. It is structured as 

follows: (Appendix A) 
 

• Two Recruitment, Assessment and Support Teams 

• One Family Finding Team 

• One Adoption Panel Management and Quality Assurance Team 

• One Post Adoption Support Team (working in Partnership with Coram) 

Recruitment, Assessment and Support Team (RAS) 

There are two Recruitment, Assessment and Support Teams in the Adoption Service which 

has the equivalent of fifteen (full time equivalent) Senior Practitioners/Social Workers. 
 

The adoption Social Worker undertaking the initial visit remains responsible for the case 

during  the  Stage  One  process.  This  stage  is  overseen  by  the  Team  Manager,  their 

Business Support Assistant and the Social Worker in issuing and progressing checks and 

references. The applicants are invited to attend a three-day preparation course during 

Stage One and there is an expectation that they complete self-assessment forms as well 

as eLearning. 
 

Stage One of the application process is adopter led, and the aim is that it takes no longer 

than two months to complete unless there is good reason, in which case, additional time 

can be allowed. The Recruitment & Assessment Team Managers, with their staff, can 

identify potential adopters whose assessment can be progressed more quickly when they 

appear to have the necessary experiences and qualities needed for children who have 

complex needs or sibling groups. 
 

Most prospective adopters who enter Stage Two retain the same Social Worker to offer 

continuity. They are invited to attend a two day preparation course during this stage; one of 

these days is facilitated by a therapist with emphasis on attachment and therapeutic 

parenting. 
 

Once approved as Kent adopters and a child is placed, the adoptive parents will be offered 

a  mentor,  who  is  an  experienced  Kent  adoptive  parent  who  can  offer  informal,  and 

informed support. Mentors are supported by a RAS Team Manager and attend regular 

support groups. 

Page 46



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 4 of 26 

 

 

 
 

The two-stage process 
 

You can take a break 

before Stage 1 

 
 
 

Pre-stage 1 

(10 days) 

ROI 

approval 

(5 days) 

Stage 1 

(2 months) 

Stage 2 

(4 months) 

 
 
 
 

You are 

here 

There can be a break of 

up to six months 

between Stage 1 and 2 
 

 

Non-agency assessments 
 

This refers to adoption assessments involving families whose children are not in the care of 

the local authority such as stepparent adoption. 
 

As with agency adoption assessments the two-stage process is followed and robust 

monitoring  through  supervision  and  tracking  meetings  takes  place  to  ensure  a  timely 

service is delivered. 
 

Recruitment strategy 
 

Nationally, there has been a reduction in the number of people coming forward seeking 

assessment as adopters, but fortunately, this has not been the case in Kent. 
 

Whilst there is a consistent flow of interest from people enquiring about adopting; there is a 

focus in the service on recruiting adopters willing and able to consider adopting children 

aged three years old and above, siblings, and those with a disability or complex needs. 
 

This  is clearly  outlined  in  our  literature,  on  the  Adoption  Service  website  and  during 

adoption information events. The recruitment strategy focuses on several key elements: 
 

• Continual development of the Adoption Service website and use of social media. 

• Consideration of bespoke/targeted advertising when necessary. 

• Active engagement with local media outlets during national adoption week  in October, 

including a press release, a bespoke information event for prospective adopters who might 

be interested in finding out more about adopting siblings or children with complex needs, 

and radio interviews with approved adopters of siblings and the Head of Service. 

• Responsive service –  Three Initial Enquiries Advisers take incoming calls from people 

enquiring about adopting to ensure a quick and responsive service. 

• Advertising on the Kent Adoption and First4Adoption websites. 

• Monthly information events where members of the public can attend without booking a 

place. There is always at least one experienced adopter in attendance at the events who 

shares their experience of adoption, which is a very popular part of the presentation. 

• Active promotion of the extensive post adoption support that is available to Kent adopters 

from when a child is placed and beyond the adoption order being granted. 

Page 47



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 5 of 26 

 

 

 
Foster to Adopt Scheme 

 
A key aim of all those involved in securing permanence for children is to place them in their 
potentially permanent placement at the earliest possible stage. Foster to Adopt is used for 
babies and children who are in local authority care where the plan is likely to be adoption, 
but who still have a chance of being reunited with their birth family. Most children placed 
under foster to adopt go on to be adopted. 

 
Foster to Adopt protects children from experiencing multiple moves within the care system. 
It provides children with good quality, uninterrupted and consistent care whilst detailed 
assessments of their birth family are completed, and the Court decides on the plan for the 
child. 

 
Consistent care for the child reduces possible future harm and it supports the child in 
developing healthy attachments.  Babies and children are placed with approved adopters 
who have been assessed and approved as temporary foster carers for them. 

 
Foster to Adopt carers provide day to day care for the child and work with the child’s Social 
Worker to ensure that the child has all their needs met. At the same time, their Social 
Worker will continue working with and assessing the child’s birth parents to see if they have 
made the changes needed to have the child returned to their care. 

 
The Court will make the final decision on the plan for the child and if it decides that it 
should be adoption, the case will be presented to the adoption panel and if panel agree 
that this is a suitable ‘match’, the foster to adopt carers will become the prospective 
adopters for the child and will ultimately apply to the court for an adoption order. 
Alternatively, if the Court decides that the child should be returned to their birth family then 
the child is returned. 

 
As of 31st March 2019, there had been 50 Foster to Adopt placements made in respect of 
Kent children to Kent carers. Kent Adoption Service subscribes to the Coram Early 
Permanence Network Scheme. The service provides additional training for prospective 
carers within the Stage Two assessment process and holds a monthly support group for 
Foster to Adopt carers. The service provides training for Social Workers across Kent and 
has raised awareness with partner agencies including health, social care, CAFCASS and 
the judiciary. 

Page 48



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 6 of 26 

 

 

n
o

. o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 p
la

ce
d

 

 
 

50 Children placed in Foster to Adopt placements in Kent 
 
 

20 
19 

 

18 
 

16 
 

14 
12 12 

12 
 

10 
 

8 
6

 

6 
 

4 

2 
1

 
 

0 

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 
 
 

Family Finding 
 

The  Adoption  Service  works  in  partnership  with  district  social work teams  to  

promote  early permanency for children; it advocates the benefits of this to achieve the 

best possible outcomes for children. Within the Adoption Service there is a Family Finding 

Team which consists of one Team Manager, seven Senior Practitioners/Social Workers. 

One of the Senior Practitioners is a designated Permanency Planning Lead worker who is  

invited to attend Permanency Planning Meetings (PPMs) across Kent to offer guidance on 

such matters as sibling assessments, identification of potential Foster to Adopt cases, post 

adoption contact options, life story and identity needs, achievable plans, current Kent 

adopters along with guidance on the adoption process. 
 

Adoption Panel Team 
 

The Panel Team consists of one full time Team Manager and two Panel Advisers. There 

are four panels established, one of which considers cases of prospective adopters wishing 

to be considered as foster carers, with a view to foster to adopt as well as seeking 

approval of them as adopters. A further panel has been identified to offer dual approval 

shortly. It is also proposed that during 2019/20 all adoption panels will offer dual approval 

for applicants. 
 

Paperless panels have been introduced to all four adoption panels with varying degrees of 

efficiency and the team are working with ICT to improve this further. Independent Panel 

Members and Panel Chairs have all been provided with iPads to access papers 

electronically. 

Page 49



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 7 of 26 

 

 

 
The panel members, including the Social Worker members employed by Kent County 

Council (KCC) are selected based on their capacity to work cooperatively with each other 

and professionals within the Adoption and wider Children in Care Services.  The current 

membership of the Central List is 36, including Kent social work members. Together they 

have a combined pool of professional and personal knowledge, experience and skills as 

adopters and adoptees including background in adoption and fostering work. 
 

Agency Panel Advisers quality assure and provide advice on all cases being presented at 

panel and then subsequently to the Agency Decision Maker (ADM), plus on all requests for 

ADMs to agree children’s adoption plans. This is regarded as a high priority; performed in 

a timely, thorough manner and is evidenced in writing. An annual report is produced by the 

Panel Chairs which include a quality assurance and scrutiny role of the cases presented. 

The reports identify issues including the quality of adopter’s assessments, child 

permanency reports, progress on life story work, birth relatives’ support and the voice of 

the child. These reports are shared with Agency Decision Makers (ADM) and the feedback 

from the Panels has been used to improve services and practice. 
 

Panel members are offered two training days per year. The training offered is tailored to 

topics that arise in discussion throughout the year. Panel training held in November 2018 

focused on practice within the adoption agency, including fostering to adopt, family finding, 

adoption support and working with LBGTQ families. This was followed in March 2019 by 

the Adoption Conference, which panel members attended. The theme of the conference 

was ‘Identity.’ 
 

The Agency Decision Makers, Head of Adoption, Agency Advisers, Medical Advisers and 

Panel Chairs have regular meetings to review service delivery and discuss issues arising. 

Post Adoption Support Team 

The Post Adoption Support Team’s (PAST) vision is to ensure families in Kent have 

access to excellent adoption support and to ensure that the support offered to families at 

every stage of the family life, is informed and tailored to their needs. Threaded throughout 

the work is a developing therapeutic network which supports the family to thrive. The team 

values a service delivery that can provide layers of support to families both pre and post 

order. 
 

Of significance, is that the Kent approach was noted as a practice example in the RAA 

Adoption Support Audit undertaken by an Independent Adviser to the DfE. His report 

highlights “In particular, the audit found that multi-disciplinary teams like Kent are best 

placed to draw on both social work and clinical perspectives when assessing and meeting 

adoption support needs effectively and without delay.” 
 

The Kent Post Adoption Support Team is a unique partnership between a statutory and a 

voluntary agency, led by a social work  Team  Manager, who is employed by a local 

authority (KCC) and a Clinical Lead, employed by a voluntary agency (Coram). There are 

three (full time equivalent) Social Workers and four clinical posts within the team. 

Page 50



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 8 of 26 

 

 

 
The team is funded primarily by the local authority but also utilises government funding via 

the Adoption Support Fund (ASF) to support the costs of the clinical staff and any 

therapeutic intervention offered by the Social Workers. This enables creativity and the 

ability to provide a range of therapeutic provisions, dependent on the support needs 

identified during assessment and therapy. Kent was visited by officers in the DfE earlier in 

the year to share information about its use of ASF and the multi-disciplinary service model 

of the Post Adoption Support Team. 
 

The multi-disciplinary model allows for swift problem solving on a case work level as well 

as at aggregate level - which then allows us to think about how to shape the service 

moving forwards. This includes frequent liaison with commissioning and senior managers 

in KCC and Coram (and in turn their combined resources). 
 

Data is collected and collated to identify needs and inform service design and delivery. If 

gaps in the skill set of clinicians and Social Workers are identified, a strategic approach is 

taken and training is accessed to develop staff and enhance their skill set, or the work 

force expands to include other disciplines. The aim is for the team to meet the needs of 

adopted  children  and  their  families  internally  as  much  as  possible,  but  if  this  is  not 

possible, external providers of services will be commissioned. 
 

The provision offered includes: 
 

• An extensive Learning & Development program which includes parenting programmes such as 

Non-Violent Resistance (NVR), Incredible Years and the STOP parenting programme. 

• Bespoke therapeutic groups on learning how to be the parent your child needs. In this group, one 

of the team’s therapist will help parents build therapeutic parenting tools and strategies tailored to 

the needs of their child. 

• Parent workshops on life story work and other adoption related topics. 

• A new group will be offered in the coming year called Attaching Though Play which will use a 

combination of Theraplay and Sensory Integration approaches to support parents and children to 

bond and attach. 

• Variety of support groups - Parents can also have quick access to a variety of different support 

groups. Some are led by parents while others are led by professionals. 

• Some families will receive planned monthly telephone support with an experienced Post Adoption 

Support Team Social Worker, to assist and hold them through a planned period time. 

• Other families will receive a program of direct social work family support. This support might help 

with life story work, network connection, and behaviour management. 

• Some children and families will receive a package of sensory integration or sensory attachment 

integration with one of the team’s two occupational therapist. In addition to this some families will 

also receive parental support in regulating with their child. We call this co-regulation therapy. 
 

The team of therapists can also provide therapeutic parenting, family therapy and Cognitive 

Behavioural Therapy (CBT). Threaded throughout the work we do is developing therapeutic 

network which supports the family to thrive. 

Page 51



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 9 of 26 

 

 

 

Section 4: Adoption data 
 

 
 

The Child’s Journey 
 

Indicator 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Agency decision makers 

best interest decisions 

 
93 

 
111 

 
118 

 
112 

 
77* 

Placement Orders 79 90 92 86 81 

Matches approved 145 84 89 107 80 

Children placed 143 89 84 107 80 

Adoption orders granted 182 108 80 104 96** 

* includes 1 who did not become a looked after child 
 

** includes 1 private adoption 

 
Agency Decision Maker Best Interest Decisions 

 
Between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 2019, the Agency Decision Maker agreed the plan 

for adoption for 77 children, 31% fewer than in the same period last year (112). 
 

National data produced by the Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) is not available for the 

most recent year, but it indicates that nationally the number of ADM decisions decreased 

by 4% from 5,180 in 2016/17 to 4,970 in 2017/18. 
 

Kent’s numbers also decreased over this period. Children aged 0-7 are most likely to be 

adopted. Possible reasons for the reduction in the number of adoption plans being made 

may include an 8% decrease in children entering care aged 0-7 from 258 in 2017/18 to 

237 in 2018/19 alongside a 17% increase in SGOs being granted for 0-7 from 41 in 

2017/18 to 48 in 2018/19. 

Children Placed for Adoption 

Between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 2019, 80 children were placed with an adoptive 

family, 25% less children than in the previous year (107 children). 5 (6%) of the children 

had their placement provided by agencies other than Kent. 
 

Of the 80 children placed in 2018/19, 34 were a part of a sibling group where adoption was 

the plan. 17 of these children were planned to be placed apart from siblings: 
 

• 6 were placed on their own 

• 11 were placed with 1 sibling, albeit separate from other siblings 

Page 52



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 10 of 26 

 

 

 
Of those children placed apart from siblings, 3 children were not originally assessed to be 

separated. 
 

23% of children placed during 2018/19 were placed under fostering for adoption, which 

exceeds the national target of 20%. 
 

Of the 95 Kent Adoption Orders granted, 41 were placed in this 12 month period, with the 

others placed in previous years. 
 

Placement Orders 
 

81 Placement Orders were granted in 2018/19 which was 5 fewer than in 2017/18. 10 of 

the children granted placement orders in 2018/19 were aged 5 or older. None were aged 

over 7. 
 

Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) national data shows that placement orders decreased 

by 7% from 4,310 in 2016/17 to 4,010 in 2017/18. 
 

Matches Approved 
 

Between 1st April 2018 and 31st  March 2019, 80 children were matched with an adoptive 

family, 25% less children than in the previous year, totalling 107 children. 
 

Children with a plan that has changed away from adoption 
 

Between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 2019, 19 children’s plans were changed from 

adoption, including 1 who was never in care. This was 9 less than in 2017/18, 28 children. 

52% of the reversals were due to the child’s needs changing. 

Adoption Orders granted 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

96 adoption orders were granted in 2017/18, including 1 private adoption. This was an 8% 

reduction compared with the 104 granted in 2017/18, following the national trend. 
 

This included 3 relinquished babies in 2018/19, no placement orders, compared to 2 in the 

previous year. 

Page 53



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 11 of 26 

 

 

 
The national picture saw a decline in adoptions. In 2017/18 there were 3,850 adoptions; a 

decrease of 12% compared to 2016/17 when there were 4,370 adoptions. 
 

The Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) states there has also been an increase in the 

number of children awaiting adoption. There were 2,630 children waiting to be placed on 

31st March 2018, which was a 6% increase compared to 31st March 2017 when there were 

2,470 children waiting with a placement order but not yet placed with an adoptive family. 

Nationally, 33% of children waiting at 31st  March 2018 had been waiting 18 months or 

more. 
 

In contrast the number waiting in Kent has reduced. 20 children in Kent were waiting with a 

placement order and not yet placed with an adoptive family as of 31st March 2019, 

compared with 22 on 31st March 2018. 
 

Kent has consistently been amongst the highest local authorities in terms of adoption 

numbers. In 2017/18 Kent was the 1st  of all authorities in England, and Kent’s 2018/19 

figure would also put Kent 1st if comparing to national 2017/18 data. 
 

 
 

 
% 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Kent 12 17 21 10 6 10 

South East 14 17 18 14 13 12 

England 14 17 17 15 14 13 

 

 
 

Kent County Council show as being below the national and South East averages in terms 

of the percentage of children adopted. Kent’s percentage of children ceasing to be in care 

who were adopted is impacted by significant numbers of unaccompanied asylum-seeking 

children. In 2018/19, the percentage of children leaving care who were adopted was 16% 

(excluding UASC). This would place Kent higher than the England and South East 

averages for the year. 

Page 54



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 12 of 26 

 

 

 
Children placed who are not yet adopted 

 
On 31st March 2019, 38 children were placed for adoption but not yet adopted (58 at the 

same time last year). Most children had been placed less than 6 months (34 children, 

89%), 3 children had been placed between 6 and 12 months, and 1 child had been placed 

for more than 12 months (down from 2 the previous year). 
 

Children waiting to be matched at the end of March 2019 
 

As of 31st  March 2019, there were 12 children with a placement order who had not yet 

been matched (down from 14 the previous year); 7 boys and 5 girls. 
 

9 of these children (75%) had at least 1 hard to place factor, and 4 of the children had 

more than 1 hard to place factor. 
 

The group included 4 children aged 5 or over, 1 child from a black or minority ethnic 

background and 8 children being considered as part of a sibling group. 
 

Children without a Placement Order 
 

As at 31st March 2019, there were 6 children with an agency decision for adoption but no 

placement order. None of these children had been waiting 6 months or more for their 

placement order. 
 

Timescales and Improvements 
 

 
Timescale indicator 

 
2015/16 

 
2016/17 

 
2017/18 

 
2018/19 

From target 

2018/19 

(days) 

Became Looked After (BLA) to Initiation 
of Adoption Planning (children with an 

initiation in year) 

142.1 129.7 152.3 149 -3.3 

Initiation of Adoption Planning to Agency 

Decision (children with ADM in year) 

 

37.3 
 

30.2 
 

32.7 
 

30.8 
 

-25.2 

Agency Decision to Matching Panel 
(children matched in year) 

 

153.4 
 

178.6 
 

181 
 

160.9 
 

-22.1 

Placement Order to Matching Decision 

(children matched in year) 
 

91 
 

117.8 
 

122 
 

91.3 
 

-29.7 

Placement Order to Matching Decision 
(children adopted in year) 

 
218.3 

 
113.5 

 
110.3 

 
120.3 

 
-0.7 

Became Looked After (BLA) to Placed for 
Adoption (children placed in year) 

 
358.7 

 
333.1 

 
340.9 

 
350.0 

 
-76 

Became Looked After (BLA) to Placed for 
Adoption (children adopted in year) 

 
485.7 

 
351.4 

 
320.7 

 
363.4 

 
-62.6 

Page 55



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 13 of 26 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Became Looked After to initiation of Adoption planning 

 
The target time between a child becoming in care to the adoption plan being initiated is 

121 days (4 months). 
 
 

For children in Kent with a plan initiated in the year, this time decreased to an average of 

149 days compared to 152 days in the previous year. 

Initiation of Adoption Planning to Agency Decision 

The target time from the adoption plan being initiated to the ADM Best Interest decision is 

56 days (8 weeks). Kent’s performance on this measure has remained below the 56 day 

target in each of the last 4 years and was 30.8 days in 2018/19. 

Page 56



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 14 of 26 

 

 

 
84.8% of children with an agency decision in the year had a period of less than 8 weeks 

from the adoption plan being initiated to the agency decision maker best interest decision. 
 

 

Agency Decision to Matching Panel 
 
 

The panel should consider a match with an adoptive family within 183 days (6 months) of 

the Best Interest decision being made. Kent’s average time decreased by 11% to 160.9 

days in 2018/19 compared to the previous year. 
 

 

70% of children with a matching decision in the year had a period of less than 6 months 

from the agency decision to their matching decision. 
 

 

Placement Order to Matching Decision 
 

The target time from the Local Authority receiving court authority to place a child for 

adoption to the approval of a match with an adoptive family is 121 days, 4 months, for 

children adopted. In 2018/19 Kent’s figure increased to 120.3 days, however remained 

below the 121 day target. 
 

 

Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) data shows that nationally the timescale was 171 days 

in 2017/18, remaining consistent with the previous year. 
 

 

Children are not always matched in the same year as they are adopted, therefore the time 

taken  historically  to  place  children  impacts  upon  this  measure.  For  children  in  Kent 

matched in 2018/19, the average time between placement order and match was 91.3 

days. 
 

 

The complexity of children to be placed can influence this measure. Of the 81 children 

matched in 2018/19, 36 had at least 1 hard to place factor, with 10 children having more 

than 1 hard to place factor. 
 

Of the 36 children with at least one hard to place factor: 
 

• 30 children were matched belonging to a sibling group 

• 9 of the children matched were aged 5+ 

• 9 were from black and minority ethnic backgrounds 

• 0 children were disabled 
 
 

Became Looked After to Placed for Adoption 
 

The current DfE threshold for children becoming looked after to placement is 426 days (14 

months) for children that were adopted. 
 

This has increased by 13% to 363.4 days in 2018/19, albeit is still well below the target. 

However, there were 2 cases which affected the measure predominately. 

Page 57



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 15 of 26 

 

 

 
Children are not always placed in the same year as they are adopted. Timescales for 

children placed in the year provides an indication of more recent performance. Using this 

measure, Kent’s performance was 350 days in 2018/19, which is now 76 days below the 

target. 
 

 

Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) data shows that nationally there was an 8% reduction in 

timescale for this measure from 457 days in 2016/17 to 420 days in 2017/18. 
 

It is the responsibility of the adoptive parents to apply for the adoption order, therefore the 

performance timescales of adoptive agencies end at the time the child is placed. 
 

The average time from the child being placed to adoption order granted in 2018/19 was 

204 days. This was a 5% reduction compared to 2017/18, when it was 215 days. 
 
 

 

 

Page 58



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 16 of 26 

 

 

 

Section 5: The Adopter Journey - Adoption Data 
 

Adopter Activity 
 

 
 

Adopter activity 

 

Number of 

families in 

2016/17 

 

Number of 

families in 

2017/18 

 

Number of 

families in 

2018/19 

Enquiries in year 261 275 281 

Stage One starts in 

year 

 

90 
 

82 
 

93 

Stage Two starts in 

year 

 

74 
 

86 
 

77 

Stage Two ends in year 50 88 81 

Adoptive families 

matched in year 

 

54 
 

77 
 

73 

Adoptive families with 

placements in year 

 

53 
 

77 
 

71 

Adoptive families with 

adoption orders in year 

 
68 

 
70 

 
77 

 

 
 

Approval Timescales 
 

18 of the 81 adoptive families approved in 2018/19 were fast tracked (foster carers and 

repeat adopters). 
 

67 of the 81 adoptive families that were approved were assessed within the Stage Two; 4 

month timescale. 
 

Average timescales for newly approved adopters in the 2-stage adopter recruitment 

process, excluding fast tracks 
 

Timescale Target 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Enquiry to Stage One Start (days) N/A 106 83 75 

Stage One Start to Stage One End 

(days) 

 

61 
 

50 
 

63 
 

96 

Stage One End to Stage Two Start 

(days) 

 

N/A 
 

36 
 

51 
 

35 

Page 59



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 17 of 26 

 

 

 
Stage Two Starts to Stage Two End 

(days) 
121 106 88 97

 
 

 
 
 

There has been a reduction of 10% in the average time between enquiry and Stage One 

start. This was 75 days during 2018/19, compared to 83 the previous year, so a reduction. 

The target duration for Stage One, pre-assessment, is 2 months, 61 days. 
 

2018/19 figures indicate that Kent was outside this timescale with an average of 96 days. 

However, Stage One is adopter led, during this stage we complete checks and references. 
 

The prospective adopters also complete their own home learning and attend a three day 

preparation course. The delays are often caused because of delays in receiving medical 

reports from applicant’s general practitioner surgeries or for the results of DBS checks. 
 

Prospective adopters can take a break of up to 6-months between Stage One and Stage 

Two.  Kent’s figures for 2018/19 show that the average time between Stage One ending 

and Stage Two starting was 35 days. 
 

Priority is given to assessing prospective adopters who can provide homes for our harder 

to place children. 
 

This is part of our sufficiency strategy to reduce the time children are waiting for adoptive 

families and to ensure we are approving families that match the needs of Kent children 

with adoption plans. 
 

This is translated in to practice by identifying in Stage One, prospective adopters who are 

considered as potentially a good match for a child/child that requires an adoptive 

placement, and, in such circumstances, the assessment of the prospective adopter(s) will 

be fast tracked. 
 

This does not always result in the match with the child progressing, as information 

exchanged during the assessment, may result in a different view being reached, but it has 

resulted in some very outcomes for children and adopters. 
 

The target duration for Stage Two, assessment, is 4 months, 121 days. Kent’s duration 

increased by 10% to 97 days in 2018/19 from 88 days in 2017/18. This is still well within 

the target duration for Stage Two. 
 

Adopter Gap 
 

 

The latest data on the Adopter gap indicates that Kent had more Adopters waiting for a 

match than children with a placement order waiting to be matched. There were 12 children 

with a placement order waiting to be matched and 44 adoptive families approved and 

waiting for a match, adopter gap of -32. 

Page 60



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 18 of 26 

 

 

 
Kent’s performance has improved despite a negative trend nationally. Adoption leadership 

board data indicates that nationally the adopter gap had increased as there were 1,600 

approved adoptive families waiting to be matched at 31st  March 2018 and 2,630 children 

waiting to be placed for adoption with a placement order. 

 
Post Adoption Support Data 

 
• 285 requests for assessment for post adoption support were received from 

families 

• 442 interventions were funded via the adoption support fund 

• 90 training days for adopters were held 

• 314 cases open to the team 

Page 61



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 19 of 26 

 

 

 

Section 6: Disruptions 
 

From the 81 children placed during 2018/19, 3 children’s placements disrupted during 

2018/19. 
 

One child went on to be adopted by another adopter and a sibling group of 2, are currently 

having their needs re-assessed and a review of their care plan is taking place. 
 

Disruption meetings were held within timescale, as per Kent County Council’s policy in 

respect of both placement breakdowns. The meetings were chaired by an experienced 

independent  person whose  findings  and  recommendations  were  shared  with  relevant 

Social Workers and their managers and with colleagues in the social care teams and the 

adoption service. 
 

The information and analysis is also discussed at the adoption panels that recommended 

approval of the match for the child with the adopters. 
 

The disruption meetings of both placements concluded that the adopter assessments had 

been thorough, and the adopters felt they had been well prepared, and the children 

concerned were in no way at fault. 
 

There were issues of unresolved loss in both cases, one particularly so for the adopters 

and the other for a child. As a result of these two cases the adoption agency is developing 

the use of therapeutic support packages for families post placement-pre-order, which will 

be outlined in the support plan and presented to the adoption panel at the point of 

matching. 
 

The adoption service is also seeking to expand its remit in relation to life story books, in 

order to ensure adoptive parents, have this tool, which encompasses a child’s early years 

experiences, as early as possible. 
 

Adopters will then add to this book, so it provides a whole picture for the child and helps 

them understand where they sit in relation to their birth family and their adoptive family 

early in placement. 

Page 62



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 20 of 26 

 

 

 

Section 7: Commissioned Services 
 

Kent County Council commission Coram in a contracted partnership to jointly provide post 

adoption support services to adopted children and adopters living in Kent. The team 

focuses on timely assessments and interventions undertaken whenever possible by team 

members. 
 

If a Kent child and their family reside outside of Kent but remain the responsibility of Kent 

County Council 3 year rule, services will be commissioned outside of Kent, to allow a more 

localised service. 
 

Kent adoption service commissions through a contract Barnardo’s (CAFIS: Connecting 

Adoptive Families Independent Services) for independent adoption and SGO Support 

Services. 

 
This includes four services covering independent support for birth parents; contact both 

direct and letterbox; access to birth records and intermediary services for adult adoptees. 

Page 63



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 21 of 26 

 

 

 

Section 8: Participation and Engagement 
 

Kent’s Adoption Service actively promotes participation and engagement from adoptive 

parents and adopted children. The service facilitates an adoption advisory board, which is 

chaired by an adoptive parent. 
 

Membership includes a range of people including adopters, adoption  Social Workers, 

Team Managers, and a deputy head from Virtual School Kent. 
 

The voices of adopted children are heard through a variety of ways including age 

appropriate fixed term groups but also fun activities for children who have been adopted, 

so they can meet other adopted children. 
 

The adoption service has collaborated with Virtual School Kent, by funding apprentice 

time, equivalent to 1 FTE, for the coming year. Two young people have been appointed, 

both of whom have adoption in her family and network. 
 

They will work together to support the participation of children and young people in the 

adoption service, whilst sitting with other apprentices in Virtual School Kent and supporting 

other Virtual School Kent workstreams. 
 

Event description Number of attendees 

  
Younger Children’s Participation Event 11 children 

  April & October LGBT Family Day 47 children & 30 Adults 

  Adoptable Participation Event 9 children 

  Christmas Family Event 107 children & 98 parents 

  Adoption Conference. Topic was 

Identity and Sense of Belonging 

(March 2019) 

60 adopters attended (total 126 

attendees) 

  Canterbury Pride (June 2019) 8 children & 13 parents 

  Parent led Support Groups 7 groups in operation 

Page 64



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 22 of 26 

 

 

 

Section 9: Compliments, Feedback and Complaints 
 

Compliments 
 

Compliments are received from across the adoption service, which are very welcome. 
 

The adoption service hosts annual thematic conference for adoptive parents, Social 

Workers, teachers and other professionals, the most recent one focused on issues of 

identity as this was a recurring theme in case work. 
 

 
 

The guest speaker was Julie Young, Senior Research Associate, Centre of Research for 

Children, University of East Anglia.  The theme of the conference was ‘Identity.’ 
 

Feedback received about the conference from attendees included: 
 

• “As an adoptive parent I really value this annual event. It always provides lots of 

valuable information, insight, things to think about and do that will help our 

family/daughter. This year was no exception.” 

• “Really helpful to have research evidence around contact to back up practice. Very 

balanced presentation, extremely helpful to have voice of birth parent being 

shared.” 

• “Excellent conference and packed out. High quality speakers. It was useful to have 

the leaflets that were available.” 

• “I value the opportunity as an adoptive mother to attend this conference.” 
 

   Adoption Conference Programme of Events 
 

  Conference 2019 - Developing On e ’s  S e lf : I de n tity a nd  B e lo n ging i n 
Adoption 

Page 65

https://www.kentadoption.co.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/93664/Kent-Adoption-Conference-programme-of-events-2019.pdf
https://vimeo.com/325891903/da3a3ed73a
https://vimeo.com/325891903/da3a3ed73a


Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 23 of 26 

 

 

 
Feedback 

 
There are several forums for receiving feedback about the services: 

 
• Adopters are asked for their views at the time they attend the adoption panel for 

approval and a match. 

• The views of others who attend the adoption panel including Social Workers from 
Kent and other adoption agencies if placing the child via inter-agency route. 

• Adopters views after they have adopted- an ‘after adoption’ feedback form is sent 
to each family after the adoption order is granted. 

• Panel members attending panel training. 

• Adopters attending the preparation training. 

• Adopters attending the  post-adoption  support team  learning and  development 

training. 
 

Complaints 
 

• Most concerns or issues raised in relation to the service provided by the Adoption 
Service are resolved through a problem-solving approach within the service and 
the service aims to respond quickly and with sensitivity. 

• If,   however,   concerns   remain   unresolved   Kent   County   Council   has   a 
comprehensive complaints procedure. During 2018/19 the Adoption Service 
received three formal complaints, two of which were upheld. 

• The issues of concern raised related to a delay in the provision of support in one 
case and the need for provision of information in the other. 

• The learning from complaints has been shared with the relevant team and a 
support and advice line call system has been introduced to ensure enquiries are 
able to book in to have a detailed telephone conversation with a Social Worker 
within 2-5 working days, followed by an assessment if required. 

• This service has been very well received and should the need arise, an urgent 
response can be provided. 

Page 66



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 24 of 26 

 

 

 

Section 10: Regionalisation 
 

Regionalisation Agenda 
 

Kent  is  working  with  London  Borough  of  Bexley  and  Medway  Local  Authorities  in  a 

Regional Adoption Agency model. 
 

All three Local Authorities presented to their respective Cabinet Committees in September 

2016, 2017 and more recently in July 2019. 
 

Cabinet endorsed the decision for a full business case for regionalisation to be completed 

with presentation and sign-off by Cabinet in October 2019 and to formulate a detailed 

design of the RAA model in collaboration with LB of Bexley and Medway Council. 

 
An Executive  Board has been established under which  sits an  Operational Board to 

ensure progression to closer partnership working with a view to forming a Regional 

Adoption Agency. 

Page 67



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 25 of 26 

 

 

 

Conclusion 
 

The current report demonstrates a dynamic adoption service, which is always seeking to 

improve performance whilst developing in line with national initiatives and being at the 

forefront of innovative practice. 
 

A business plan has been drafted for the coming year to consolidate the areas of good 

practice noted and to further develop the service. (Appendix 2). The adoption support fund 

is due to end in March 2020, and the DfE have a pending submission as part of the 

Spending Review to seek the continuation of adoption support fund funding. Results of the 

review are due to be reported at Autumn Budget 2019. 
 

The hope is this will continue in some form to allow the continuation of this fund being 

used to supplement the post adoption services provided to adoptive families. 
 

The aspiration too is that regionalisation will enable adoption service across the region to 

improve outcomes for children and adopters both pre-and post the granting of an adoption 

order and Kent will be integral to such developments. 
 

Sarah Skinner 
 

 

Head of Adoption 
 

Kent Adoption Service 
 

August 2019 

Page 68



Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 

Page 26 of 26 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Staffing structure 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Appendix 2 
 

Business Plan 2019-20 
 

 
Adoption Business 

Plan 2019-20.pdf 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

This Business Plan correlates to the SCS Business Plan 
 

Kent Adoption Service Vision: To achieve an outstanding adoption service by March 2020 that ensures legal permanence 
for children either within their birth/extended family or with non-related adults via Adoption & Special Guardianship Orders 

 

This document uses the National Minimum Standards (NMS) applicable to the provision of adoption services. The NMS together with 
the adoption regulations form the basis of the regulatory framework under the Care Standards Act 2000 for the conduct of adoption 

agencies and adoption support agencies. 
 

 

 

Adoption Service Business Plan April 2019 – March 2020 
 

Kent County Council (KCC) is committed to ensuring that children can remain in the care of their parents and birth families wherever 
possible.  However, where it is not possible to achieve stability for the child within the birth family, we work to achieve alternative 
permanent arrangements for the child within a family setting and these include adoption. This Business Plan set out how Kent 

Adoption intends to deliver its services to ensure timely progression for children whose care plan is adoption and the support that we 
aim to provide to them, their birth and adoptive families. It outlines Management and Leadership of the service to ensure the 

workforce is appropriately equipped to meet the requirements 
 

Reviewed quarterly to ensure continuous development   
 

 

P
age 71

file://///invicta.cantium.net/kccroot/users/shq/shq6/millc03/Desktop/Specialist%20Childrens%20Services%20Business%20Plan%202016-17.docx


 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
Target 1: Outcome / Value  
The child’s welfare, safety and needs are at the centre of the adoption process. NMS 1, 4,10,13,15,22 
 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales  Lead Performance 
Management 

Outcome 

Securing 
permanence for 
children through a 
timely Adoption 
process 

 
 
 

 
Robust oversight and 
awareness of children who 
have or might have an 
adoption plan. 

Ensuring 
the child is 
matched 
within 3 
months of a 
placement 
order being 
granted 
 

Head of Adoption, 
Adoption Managers 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Weekly Tracking, 
Case audits, 
Supervision, Joint 
Tracking, Adoption 
Scorecard and 
monthly MIU 
performance data 
 
Weekly PPM tracking 
of unborn and 
children aged 0-10 
subject to legal 
planning meetings 
and BLA 

Children are 
matched within 
121 days 

P
age 72



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

Increase use of 
foster-to-adopt  
 

Adoption Service to deliver 
workshops to raise 
awareness with childcare 
professionals, IROs and 
Adoption Social Workers 
 
 
 
PPM lead to continue offering 
consultations and attending 
early PPMs 
 
Early identification of pre-birth 
and children under 2 entering 
care. 
 
Attainment of the Coram 
BAAF Permanency Kite Mark 

Two 
workshops 
to be held 
per year 
 
 
 
 
Weekly 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October 
2019 

Amy Coombs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Nina Gurung 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Amy Coombs 

Weekly PPM tracking 
of unborn and 
children aged 0-2 
subject to legal 
planning meetings 
and BLA  
 
 
Consider PPM 
tracking in weekly 
management linking 
meetings 
 
 
 
 
Supervision 

20% of children 
placed for 
adoption will 
have been 
placed in a 
foster to adopt 
placement.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Award secured 
 

Recruit enough 
adopters to meet the 
needs of children 
with an adoption 
plan 
 

Recruit a minimum of 80 
adopter households (based 
on number of placement 
orders granted in 2018/19, 
against proportion of 
placements for sibling groups. 
 
 
Family finding to complete all 

March 2020 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Monthly 

RAS Team Managers 
FF Team Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RAS Team Managers 

Monitor TOD 
Case audits 
Supervision  
 
 
 
 
 
Feedback forms 

20% of 
approved 
adopters (with 
no child 
identified) will 
have dual 
approval  
 
80 new 

P
age 73



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

foster carer assessments 
linked to children. 
 
 
Hold recruitment events  
 
 
 
 
Prioritise applications from 
families able to adopt children 
with complex needs and 
sibling groups 
 
Maintain and update website 
and social media regarding 
recruitment events and news 

 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
RAS Team Managers 
 
 
 
 
RAS Team Managers 

 
 
 
 
Linking meeting 
 
 
 
 
Information events  
Feedback forms 
 

approvals  
 
 
 
Initial visits 
requested by a 
third of 
attendees 
 
Children are 
matched within 
121 days 
 
 
Minimum of 20 
attendees at 
information 
events 

P
age 74



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

Secure adoption 
order at earliest 
opportunity 
 

Every adopter is provided with 
support from allocated 
Adoption Social Worker 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Every adopter is offered peer 
support via mentoring scheme  
 
 
 
 
 
Review children’s adoption 
journey escalate concerns 
and potential delay to Service 
Managers and IROs  

Minimum of 
six-weekly 
visits post 
placement 
following 
first LAC 
review  
 
 
Matching 
meeting 
 
 
 
 
 
Monthly 
joint 
tracking 
meeting 

RAS & Family 
Finding Team 
Managers and Panel 
Advisors  
 
 
 
 
 
RAS and Family 
Finding Team 
Managers 
 
 
 
 
Head of Adoption 

Supervision, Case 
audits, adopter 
feedback, QA 
matching minutes 
and APR 
 
 
 
 
QA Reports 
Supervision 
Case audits 
 
 
 
 
Scorecard 
Joint tracking and 
Supervision 

Adoption Order 
application 
submitted, and 
Adoption Social 
Worker 
completes 
Annex A within 
ten weeks 
 
Prospective 
adopters feel 
supported and 
fewer 
disruptions 
 
 
Timely 
progression of 
children’s 
adoption plans 

Ensure children with 
an adoption plan are 
safeguarded 

Ensure Social Workers and 
Adopters understand 
Safeguarding issues 
 
 
Ensure each adoptive 
household has a risk 

Assessment 
stage 1 & 2 
 
 
 
Assessment 
stage 

Social Workers 
 
 
 
 
RAS & Family 
Finding Team 

QA of PAR, 
Feedback from prep 
training & 
Supervision 
 
QA of PAR 
 

Children are 
safeguarded in 
adoptive 
placement 
 
100% have risk 
assessment 

P
age 75



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

assessment completed in time 
for approval 
 
Safeguarding and mandatory 
eLearning training completed 
and annually refreshed by 
staff 

 
 
 
Annually 

Managers 
 
 
Team Managers 

 
 
 
PDPs 

 
 
 
All staff 
complete and 
refresh course 

 P
age 76



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
Target 2:  Outcome / Value 
 

• Adopted children should have an enjoyable childhood, and benefit from excellent parenting and education, enjoying a wide 
range of opportunities to develop their talents and skills leading to a successful adult life.  

• Children are entitled to grow up as part of a loving family that can meet their developmental needs during childhood and 
beyond.   NMS 5,6,7,10,13 

 

Objective  Action to be 
undertaken 

Timescale Lead Performance 
Management 

Outcome 

Ensure smooth and 
effective transition of 
pre and post 
adoption support 
services  
 
 

Review the pre-order 
support plan template 
with a view to adding 
potential post order 
support needs 
 
FF social worker is 
responsible for 
completing APR 
 
Devise flow chart 
 
 
 
 
 

June 2019 
 
 
 
 

 
June 2019 
 
 
 
July 2019 
 
 
 
 
 

PAST Team Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
Family Finding Team 
Manager 
 
 
FF Team Manger & Panel 
Team Manager 
 
 
 
 

Matching meeting, 
APR, Adoption 
Panel QA and  
 
 
 
Supervision 
Panel 
audits 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Revised 
template  
 
 
 
 
Greater 
clarity & 
improved 
timeliness 
APR reflects 
current and 
potential 
needs 
 
 

P
age 77



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

Explore option of the 
adoption service taking 
on role of Direct work 
with children &/or 
LSB/LLL’s – prepare a 
paper for consideration. 
 
Explore option of RAS 
social worker working 
with adoptive parent on 
completion of the book 
 
 
Further development of 
Life Story information & 
training for Social 
Workers 
 

June 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
June 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Head of Adoption 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Four training 
events across 
county, Feedback 
forms, QA APR 

Completion 
of good 
quality life 
story book 
when AO is 
granted 
 
 
 
 

 Develop feedback & 
evaluation tool for 
mentees  
 
Explore possibility of 
mentors supporting 
adopters post order 
 
 

June 2019 
 
 
 
July 2019 
 
 
 
 

RAS1 Team Manager 
 
 
 
RAS 1 TM/PAST TM 
 
 
 
 

Feedback from 
mentees 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Improve 
quality of 
service  
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 78



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

Review and provide an 
effective use of Learning 
and Development 
workshops and 
Parenting Programme 
for 2019/20 academic 
year 
 
Review support offer by 
VSK & working with 
PAST 

 
Review whole service 
training needs e.g. 
Theraplay techniques. 
 
 
 
 

July 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
December 2019 
 
 
 
October 2019 

PAST Team Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PAST Team Manager & 
VSK 
 
 
Head of Adoption 

Feedback forms & 
bookings 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Completion of 
workshop at 
service meeting, 
feedback from 
Social Workers 

Revised 
rolling 
annual 
programme 
in place 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Social 
Workers 
confident in 
use of skills 
 
Ability to 
claim ASF 

 

P
age 79



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
Target 3: Outcome / Value 
 
Children’s wishes and feelings are important and will be actively sought and fully taken into account at all stages of the adoption 
process. NMS1,6,15,18,27 

 

Objective  Action to be 
undertaken 

Timescales Lead Performance 
Management 

Outcomes 

Children’s voice is 
heard throughout 
their care planning 
process and 
adoption journey 
 

Agency adoptions 
Development of a 
Participation & 
Engagement Strategy 
 
 
 
 
 
Pre-Placement Order at 
ADM stage – evidence 
of the voice of the child 
in CPR 
 
 
Adoption service to 
actively start family 
finding to include 

May 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ADM Stage 
 
 
 
 
 
ADM Stage 
 
 

Head of Adoption 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Panel Advisor 
 
 
 
 
 
Family Finding Team 
Manager 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ADM QA 
Head of Service 
supervision 
File audit 
 
 
Linking meeting 
Supervision 
File audit 

Clarity 
regarding 
approach 
and delivery 
 
 
 
 
 
ADM 
granted; 
voice of child 
recorded on 
CPR 
 
Adoption 
Social 
Worker to 

P
age 80



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

minimum of one visit to 
child and foster carer(s) 
 
 
 
 
 
Family Finding Social 
Worker to ensure 
evidence of the voice of 
the child is present in 
matching meetings and 
APR  
 
Post-Placement, Pre-
Adoption Order  
Adoption Social 
Workers to ensure 
adoptive family are 
supported in 
understanding and 
meeting the needs of 
their child. 
 
Post Adoption Order - 
continuous development 
of Participation Groups 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
From matching until 
adoption order  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FF Team Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RAS Team Managers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Post Adoption Team 
Manager 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monthly audits 
and QA processes 
 
 
 
 
 
Supervision, 
Monthly audits 
and case tracking. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Supervision and 
feedback from 
children and 

understand 
needs of 
child and 
promote 
early family 
finding 
 
Match 
approved by 
panel and 
ADM 
 
 
 
Adoption 
Order 
application 
submitted at 
10-week 
stage 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 81



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

and activities for 
adopted children 
 
Promote opportunity for 
Adopted Young people 
to communicate with 
Corporate Parenting 
Panel (once per year) 
 
 
Effective consultation 
with Adopted young 
people (18-25) to shape 
development of the 
Service 
 
Employ adoptee 
apprentice to focus on 
participation and 
engagement 
 
Non-Agency Adoption 
 
Views of the child 
evidenced in all Annex 
A reports filed to court 

 
 
 
May 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
May 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 

 
 
 
Head of Service and Post 
Adoption Team Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of Service and Post 
Adoption Team Manager 
 
 
 
 
Head of Adoption 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of Service, RAS 
Team Managers 

adoptive parents 
 
 
Record of 
attendance. 
Minutes of CPP 
 
 
 
 
Feedback and 
suggestions 
 
 
 
 
Appointment 
made 
 
 
 
 
 
Supervision 
Case audits 

 
 
 
CPP 
informed of 
views of 
adopted 
child(ren) 
 
 
Adoptee 
advisory 
board 
established 
 
 
Adoptee 
Apprentice 
employed 
 
 
 
 
Court 
endorse plan 

 

P
age 82



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
Target 4: Outcome / Value  
 
Delays should be avoided as they can have a severe impact on the health and development of the children waiting to be adopted.            
NMS 5,10,13 

 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance 
Management 

Outcomes 

Secure 
permanence for 
children who have 
an adoption plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All children with adoption 
plan have allocated Family 
Finding Social Worker 
 
Suggested link to be 
explored 
 
Visit to take place  
 
 
Decision regarding outcome 
agreed 
 
Matching Panel booked 
 
 
Matching meeting to be held 
for all linked children 

ADM decision 
 
 
 
Within 2 working 
days 
 
Within 5 working 
days 
 
Within 2 working 
days of visit 
 
Within 1 working 
day of decision 
 
Within 10 working 
days of decision 

Family Finding Team 
Manager 
 
 
Family Finding and 
RAS Team Managers,  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tracking meeting 
Supervision 
Adoption TOD 
 
Linking Meeting 
Adoption Scorecard  
Panel chair’s report  
Panel evaluation 
forms 
Supervision 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Early Family 
Finding 
progressed 
 
Presentation 
to adoption 
panel within 
six weeks of 
decision 
 

P
age 83



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
Target 5: Outcome / Value 
 

• A sense of identity is important to a child’s well-being. To help children develop this, their ethnic origin, cultural background, 
religion, language and sexuality need to be properly recognised and positively valued and promoted.  

• The particular needs of disabled children and children with complex needs will be fully recognised and taken into account.              
NMS 2,5,11,12,13,14,17 

 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance 
Management 

Outcomes 

All children are 
prepared and 
supported 
throughout 
adoption journey to 
understand their 
story 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pre-Placement 
 
At ADM stage, allocated 
Family Finding Social 
Worker to offer support 
and guidance to CIC 
Social Worker with direct 
work and Life Story Book 
 
 
 
Post Placement 
 
Adoption Social Workers 
to support and advise 

 
 
Between ADM and 
match 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
From matching to 
adoption order 

 
 
Head of Service, Family 
Finding Team Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RAS Team Managers 
 

 
 
Supervision 
Chair of matching 
meeting to ask for 
status of Life Story 
Book 
Draft Life Story Book 
presented at 
matching panel 
 
 
 
Supervision 
 

 
 
Every 
adopted 
child to 
have a Life 
Story Book 
and Later 
Life Letter  
 
 
 
 
All 
adopters 

P
age 84



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

adopters with their 
understanding of child’s 
story and use of Life Story 
Book 
 
 
Post Adoption Order 
 
Develop full support 
around Life Story work, 
distinguishing between 
stages of development 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
September 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Post Adoption Team 
Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Supervision 
Feedback forms 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

will feel 
supported 
and able to 
use Life 
Story Book 
 
 
 
L&D 
workshops 
and 
support 
groups 
established 

P
age 85



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
Target 6: Outcome / Value 

Children and adults affected by adoption receive an assessment of their adoption support needs. NMS 15 

• Children live in a healthy environment where their physical, emotional and psychological health is promoted and where they are able to 
access the services they need to meet their health needs. NMS 5 

• The education and achievement of children is actively promoted as valuable in itself and as part of their preparation for adulthood. 
Children are supported to achieve their educational potential.  NMS 7 
 

Objective  Action to be 
undertaken 

Timescales Lead Performance 
Management 

Outcomes 

Support needs are 
identified for children 
and/or their adoptive 
family  

 Pre-Placement 
 
Post ADM/Pre PO-
Family Finding social 
worker will work with 
child’s Social Worker, 
adopter’s Social Worker, 
PAST and foster 
carer(s) and VSK to 
identify support and 
transitional needs 
 
 
 

 
 
ADM – Matching panel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Family Finding Team 
Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Supervision 
 
Supervision 
QA of matching 
minutes and support 
plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Bespoke 
adoption 
support plans 
that meet 
child and 
family needs 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 86



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

Post Placement 
 
Adoption Social Worker 
to provide ongoing 
support to families and 
identify needs through 
support visits, PEPs and 
CIC reviews and amend 
support plan accordingly  
 
 
Post Adoption Support 
 
Development of a core 
offer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Developing a process 
for accessing a post 
adoption support 
assessment 
 
 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
June 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All requests for 
support will managed 
within 24 hours of 
request if required, a 
support and advice 
line call with a 

RAS Team Managers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Post Adoption Team 
Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Post Adoption Team 
Manager 
 
 
 
 

Supervision 
Case audits 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Liberi reporting 
 
 
 
 
 

Adoptive 
families are 
well 
supported, 
and adoption 
applications 
are submitted 
appropriately 
 
 
 
 
 
Increased 
internal 
provision and 
more timely 
access to 
intervention 
 
 
Timely 
response 
 
 
 
 

P
age 87



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

Refine process to 
access Adoption 
Support Fund  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

member of the PAST 
will be within 3 days 
of initial contact.  If 
required, the offer of 
a PAS assessment 
within 8 weeks of 
support & advice line 
call.  PAS 
assessment should 
be completed within 6 
weeks of assessment 
meeting.  Funding 
applications should 
be made within 48 
hours of signed 
assessment being 
returned and 
uploaded to the 
system.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Post Adoption Team 
Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ASF Database 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Timely 
applications 

P
age 88



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
Formalise partnership 
working with VSK to 
ensure adopted children, 
as “previously looked 
after “receive a service 
from them 

 
Ongoing 

 
Head of Service and 
Post Adoption Team 
Manager 

 
Feedback from 
families 
Established group of 
Education Mentors 
Established 
arrangement with VSK 

 P
age 89



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
Target 7: Outcome / Value 

Where a child cannot be cared for in a suitable manner in their own country, intercountry adoption may be considered as an alternative means 
of providing a permanent family. NMS 11,14 

  

Objective  Action to be 
undertaken 

Timescales Lead Performance 
Management 

Outcomes 

Ensure children from 
other countries for 
whom adoption is the 
plan are supported and 
timely assessments are 
completed 

Commissioned inter-
country adoption RAA 

Annual renewal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Head of Service 6 monthly reports  Service 
provided 

 

P
age 90



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
Additional expected outcomes (Values) for adopted adults and birth relatives  
 
Target 8: Outcome / Value 

• Children, birth parents/guardians and families and adoptive parents and families will be valued and respected NMS 12, 15 

 

Objective  
 

Action to be 
undertaken 

Timescales Lead Performance 
Management 

Outcomes 

Provide 
responsive 
and positive 
service to 
stakeholders 
 
 
 

Monitoring of 
contract for 
services for birth 
family and adult 
adoptee support 
 
 
Develop Adoption 
Advisory Board 
further with input 
from adopters and 
Adoption staff 
 
 
See Target 3 for 
details of 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 

Head of Service 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Post Adoption Support Team Manager 

Quarterly contract 
meetings 
 
 
 
 
 
Supervision 

A ‘good, 
accessible’ 
quality 
service 
provided 
 
 
Established 
and 
effective 
advisory 
board 
meetings 

P
age 91



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

development of 
Adoptee advisory 
board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 92



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
Target 9: Outcome / Value 
 
Records are clear, accurate, up to date and stored securely, and contribute to an understanding of the child’s life 
 

Objective  Action to be 
undertaken 

Timescales Lead Performance 
Management 

Outcomes 

A clear narrative for families 
through timely, accurate 
record keeping 

Ensure all 
Adoption 
Service staff 
are aware of 
KCC recording 
policy 
guideline and 
are trained 
and 
competent in 
the use of 
Liberi 
 
 

For new staff to 
complete within first 
month of 
employment 
 
Refresh training for 
current staff where 
required 
 
 

Relevant Team Manager Supervision 
Case audits 

Case recording 
is accurate and 
up-to-date  

 

P
age 93



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 
Target 10: Outcome / Value 
 

• The agency is managed ethically, effectively and efficiently and delivering a good quality service which meets the needs of children and 
other service users. NMS 25 

Objective  Action to be 
undertaken 

Timescales Lead Performance 
Management 

Outcomes 

Ensure Kent Adoption Service 
complies with national policy and 
developments for adoption 
services 
 
 

Completion of 
Panel chairs 
report 
 
Report on service 
delivery & 
outcomes  
 
Reviewed 
Statement of 
Purpose 
Development of a 
Regional 
Adoption Agency 
– project plan 
produced and 
delivered in line 
with partners. 
 

September 2019 
 
 
 
July 2019 
 
 
 
2020 

Team Manager, Panel 
Team 
 
 
Head of Adoption 
 
 
 
Head of Adoption 
 
 
 
 

Meetings with Panel 
chairs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reporting to CPP, 
Cabinet and DfE 
 

Delivery of 
Panel 
Chairs 
report 
 
 
 
 
RAA 
established 
 

P
age 94



 

Version 1 March 2019 Sarah Skinner 

ADOPTION SERVICE 
Business Plan 
2019/20 

 

 
 

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education 
 

 Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education 
 

To: 
 

Corporate Parenting Panel 17th September 2019 

Subject: SEND Action Plan / Children in Care with Education, Care and 
Health Plans (6 monthly review) 
 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 

Summary: This report provides members with an overview on Kent Children in 
Care (CIC) in the statutory school years who have an Education, 
Health and Care Plan (EHCP) in relation to their access to appropriate 
education and areas of development identified by the Ofsted/CQC 
inspection. 
VSK first reported on CiC with EHCPs in March 2018. An update was 
completed in January 2019 just before Ofsted/CQC undertook an 
Inspection of Kent SEND.   
This report in September 2019 is aiming to track progress and view 
impact on outcomes for Kent Children in Care since then, as well as 
continue to address areas for development and joint planning from a 
Corporate Parenting perspective in light of the Ofsted/CQC inspection 
outcome.  
This most recent data was gathered by the VSK EWOs during June 
2019 and so should be considered a snapshot in time. 
 
 

Recommendations: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE and 
COMMENT ON the report. 
 

 

1. Introduction.  
 

1.1 Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) conducted a joint inspection of Kent 
between 28 January 2019 and 1 February 2019, to judge the effectiveness of the 
local authority, health and schools in implementing the disability and special 
educational needs reforms as set out in the Children and Families Act 2014.    There 
was a particular focus on how well we identify and meet the needs of children and 
young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND), as well as the 
outcomes they achieve.  
 
Whilst the Inspectors identified a number of strengths, they identified significant 
weaknesses and areas of concern. Specific areas relating to children in care were;  

   
 
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 9



Areas for Development identified by Ofsted/CQC inspection. 
1.2 Joint commissioning arrangements have not ensured that there are effective 

processes in place to ensure key professionals from education, health and care 
provide advice for EHC assessments within statutory timescales. 
 

1.3 The care needs of children and young people and their families are not well 
considered during the EHC process. Social care information in EHC plans is not 
sufficiently detailed, and in some cases is written in the wrong section. There is a lack 
of a proactive, risk-reducing approach to social care support. For example, travel 
training is effective but not offered consistently within the local area. 
 

1.4 The variable quality of provision and commitment to inclusion in schools, and the lack 
of willingness of some schools to accommodate children and young people with 
SEND.  
 
Strength identified by Ofsted/CQC inspection. 

1.5 Outcomes for looked-after children with SEND are in line with those found nationally. 
There have been no permanent exclusions involving these children in the last four 
years. The proportion of looked after children going on to education, employment or 
training has increased over the past four years. 

 
 

2. Background 
 
2.1 There is an increase in the % of Kent CIC in the Statutory School Years cohort who 

have an EHCP - this is now 30.6% whereas it was nearly 29% in January 2019. This 
picture continues to have implications for planning in terms of time for SEN 
department to manage cases, Educational Psychology and other professionals 
having time for completing statutory assessments and available places at specialist 
provisions across County. 
 

2.2 The data indicates a significant improvement in terms of the % of CIC with a finalised 
EHCP without ‘suitable education’ at present. (For the purposes of this report ‘suitable 
education’ includes those with a finalised EHCP but No Recorded School (NRS), currently 
on a Reduced Timetable (RTT) or awaiting a new school to meet their special needs ie 
awaiting a Change of Placement. This has reduced from 42 in February 2018 down to 25 
in June 2019 which is a 40.5% change. This cohort now only amounts to 7.4% of Kent CIC 
with an EHCP rather than 14.2% in February 2018. This 7.4% is however still a concern 
and there are 6 young people who have remained without ‘suitable education’ since 
February 2018. This group accounts for 24% of the cohort where there has been no 
evident progress for their situation in this period of at least 16 months of tracking.  There 
have been multiple challenges to try and provide education for this small cohort of 6 young 
people. Services have worked together to try to overcome challenges such as multiple 
placement moves, moves to living Out of County (sometimes moving back into Kent again) 
and pregnancy. This cohort have been tracked specifically due to the complexity of their 
situation which has led to them not having ‘suitable education’ since February 2018 and 
they are a priority for integrated children’s services to ensure a swift response to their need 
going forwards.  
 
 

Page 98



 
 

2.3 SEN Escalation Meetings are now held in each quadrant of the county and attended 
by an Area Manager from each of Social Care, VSK and SEN. The focus of each 
quadrant’s meeting is the Kent CIC with an EHCP who are supported by the social 
care team in that quadrant which means that, for example, the WK SEN Escalation 
Meeting discusses only those children supported by the WK Social Care Team, not 
those in WK schools. The aim of these meetings is to work collaboratively to progress 
complex cases. Out of this cohort of Kent CIC with an EHCP without ‘suitable 
education’ at present, 22/25 (or 92%) have been discussed at a SEN Escalation 
Meeting. The average number of times that these 22 young people have been 
discussed is on 2.6 occasions. Six young people have been discussed 5 or more 
times and are still in this very vulnerable cohort. However, there has been notable 
success with use of the SEN Escalation approach with significant improvement in 
terms of the % of CIC with a finalised EHCP without ‘suitable education’ at present 
from 14.2% down to 7.4%. 

 
2.4 There is still a severe risk for our most vulnerable children with 14 out of 337 Kent 

CIC with an EHCP awaiting a change of placement (this amounts to 56% of the 
EHCP cohort without ‘suitable education’ at present). Nine of these 14 are also on a 
Reduced Timetable or have No Recorded School while they are awaiting ‘suitable 
education’ which indicates significant impact on their participation with education in 
the meantime and this is the sub group of the cohort that needs to be the focus going 
forwards in order to make rapid difference. 
 

2.5 Since the inspection highlighted that social care information in EHC plans is not 
sufficiently detailed, SEN, VSK and social care have been working together on 
developing new processes for requesting statutory assessment information from the 
Front Door. As part of this we are also piloting a SEN officer being co-located with 
colleagues from social care at the Front Door. 
 

2.6 Targeted training on SEND and the Code of Practice for Social Workers (SW) has 
been successfully trialled in East Kent by VSK and SEN. 
 

3. Conclusions 
 

3.1 Social care information in EHC plans is not sufficiently detailed and there are not yet 
effective processes in place to ensure key professionals from care provide advice for 
EHC assessments within statutory timescales. Therefore, we need to implement the 
draft process for statutory assessment requests for information from the Front Door 
and review the effectiveness of a SEN officer being co-located with social care. 
 

3.2  Improved integrated working between VSK, social care and SEN has had a positive 
impact on the finalising of suitable education placements for CIC with EHCPs. 
Escalation Meetings between Area SEN Manager, VSK DH/SENCO and Area 
Children’s Service Manager are held regularly to resolve complex cases and promote 
collaborative relationships. This practice is now County wide with agreed Terms of 
Reference and is supporting a process for escalation of cases. Having a monthly 

Page 99



meeting in each area with minutes would enable improved tracking of the cohort and 
potentially further reduce drift/delay. 

3.3  Even though we have seen a decrease, the percentage of CIC with EHCP without a 
suitable education placement is still a concern. VSK, social care and SEN are working 
together to develop creative package for CiC awaiting placement at a suitable 
provision by utilising of PP+ and SEN funding. It could be helpful to have increased 
joint working so that interim provision matching the child’s needs and interests is put in 
place. 

 
3.4  Training on SEND and the Code of Practice for VSK and social care officers improved 

their understanding. This supports the need to roll out universal training to all 
professionals within CYPE on SEND and the Code of Practice. We also need to 
continue to develop targeted training jointly with VSK for SWs on their role and 
responsibilities within the SEN Code of Practice. 

 

4. Recommendations 
Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT ON the report 

 

5. Background documents 
 
\\invicta.cantium.net\KCCRoot\Users\fol-homedrive\BurgeL10\WORKAREA\VSK\Data set June 
2019.docx 
 
\\invicta.cantium.net\KCCRoot\Users\fol-homedrive\BurgeL10\WORKAREA\social 
services\Potential process for Statutory assessment Requests for Information.docx 
 
 
6. Contact details 
 
Report Authors 
Louise Burgess      Tony Doran 
Head of SEN & Placement    Headteacher of Virtual School Kent    
03000 415197      03000  
Louise.burgess@kent.gov.uk    tony.doran@kent.gov.uk 
 
Lead Director 
Sarah Hammond 
Director of Integrated Children’s Services East (Social Work Lead) 
03000 411488 
Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk 
 

Page 100

file://///invicta.cantium.net/KCCRoot/Users/fol-homedrive/BurgeL10/WORKAREA/VSK/Data%20set%20June%202019.docx
file://///invicta.cantium.net/KCCRoot/Users/fol-homedrive/BurgeL10/WORKAREA/VSK/Data%20set%20June%202019.docx
file://///invicta.cantium.net/KCCRoot/Users/fol-homedrive/BurgeL10/WORKAREA/social%20services/Potential%20process%20for%20Statutory%20assessment%20Requests%20for%20Information.docx
file://///invicta.cantium.net/KCCRoot/Users/fol-homedrive/BurgeL10/WORKAREA/social%20services/Potential%20process%20for%20Statutory%20assessment%20Requests%20for%20Information.docx
mailto:Louise.burgess@kent.gov.uk
mailto:tony.doran@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


 

 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                

 

Looked After Children Annual Report for the  

Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups 

April 2018 – March 2019 

Table of Contents 
1.  Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 2 

2.  Achievements ..................................................................................................................................... 4 

3.  Corporate Parenting ........................................................................................................................... 5 

4.  National Profile ................................................................................................................................... 6 

5.  Kent Profile ......................................................................................................................................... 7 

6.  Initial Health Assessments (IHA) & Review Health Assessments (RHA) Performance Data .......... 13 

7.  Responsibility of CCGs for Children Placed Out of Area ................................................................. 15 

8.  Care Leavers .................................................................................................................................... 16 

9.  Adoption ........................................................................................................................................... 17 

10.  Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children.................................................................................... 18 

11.  Priorities ......................................................................................................................................... 20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101

Agenda Item 10



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 2 
 

1.  Introduction 

The purpose of this report is to provide the seven Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) an 

overview of the progress and challenges in supporting and improving the health of looked after 

children in Kent, both those who are in the care of Kent County Council and those who have been 

placed into Kent by other local authorities. It is produced in line with duties and responsibilities 

outlined in the ‘Statutory Guidance on Promoting the Health and well-being of Looked After Children: 

Statutory Guidance for local authorities, clinical commissioning groups and NHS England’ (2015)  

1.1 Statutory Framework, Legislation and Guidance 

There are a number of pieces of legislation and guidance which inform responsibilities and 

requirements with regard to working with looked after children, the key documents are summarised 

below. 

 Promoting the Health and well-being of looked after children (Department of 

Education and Department of Health, 2015)1 stipulates that all commissioners of health 

services should have appropriate arrangements and resources in place to meet the 

physical and mental health needs of looked after children. CCGs must be able to access 

the expertise of a designated doctor and nurse for looked after children; the CCG retains 

responsibility for looked after children who are placed out of area and ensure that their 

care continues uninterrupted and they must ensure that arrangements are in place for 

smooth transitions into adult care.  

 

 Children Act 1989 is the primary legislation setting out local authority responsibility to 

children ‘in need’, including looked after children. Section 22 imposes a duty on local 

authorities to safeguard and promote the welfare of each child they look after. 

 

 Children Act 2004 requires local authorities, CCGs and NHS England to cooperate to 

promote the health and welfare of looked after children (section 10). 

 

 Looked After Children: Knowledge, skills and competence of healthcare staff 

(Intercollegiate Role Framework, 2015)2 this sets out the specific knowledge, skills and 

competencies which health staff require in order to work with looked after children.  

 

 NICE Guidance PH28: Looked After Children and young people (2010 updated 2015) 

aims to enable children’s health and social care services to meet their obligations to 

improve the health and well-being of looked after children. The recommendations cover 

local commissioning, multiagency working, care planning, placements and timely access 

to appropriate health and mental health services.  

 

 Who Pays? Determining Responsibility for payments to providers (NHS England, 2013) 

provides guidance3 on how to determine who pays for health services for looked after 

children who are placed out of area. 

                                                      
1
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-health-and-wellbeing-of-looked-after-children--2 

 
2
 Intercollegiate_Looked_after_children_Knowledge__skills_and_competence_o.._.pdf 

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-health-and-wellbeing-of-looked-after-children--2
file:///Y:/CCG%20Shared/ASHETON/VIM_ThanetCCG/EK%20Childrens%20Commissioning%20Team/Looked%20After%20Children/Government%20Documents%20and%20Guidance/National%20LAC%20Guidance/Intercollegiate_Looked_after_children_Knowledge__skills_and_competence_o.._.pdf


 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 3 
 

 NICE Quality Standard QS31: Looked After Children & Young People (2013) gives 

specific measurable statements around the health and well-being of looked after 

children, young people and care leavers for all services. 

 

 The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations (2010) this 

guidance sets out the functions and responsibilities of local authorities and partner 

agencies under Part 3 of the Children Act 1989 (‘the 1989 Act’), which concerns the 

provision of local authority support for children and families. In particular it describes 

how local authorities should carry out their responsibilities in relation to care planning, 

placement and case review for looked after children. 

 

 Improving mental health support for our children and young people (Social Care 

Institute for Excellence, 2017) this report sets out findings from the evidence of the 

Expert Working Group, views of children and young people. It makes recommendations 

to address the findings which will improve the mental health and well-being of looked 

after children, establishes 11 key findings that will be the drivers for change and 

developed seven quality statements that define the outcomes that the 

recommendations are intended to achieve.  

 

 Children and Social Work Act 2017 requires local authorities publish their local offer for 

care leavers, provide personal advisors to care leavers up to the age of 25, extra support 

to promote educational achievement in relation to looked after children and those 

previously looked after, a focus on improvements for outcome of children going through 

the court process in particular timescales surrounding permanence and adoption 

options. The CCG remains accountable corporate parents of looked after children and 

have representation on the corporate parenting board. The expectations of what a 

‘good’ corporate parent is improved in the Act and this will directly influence the offer to 

looked after children and care leavers from the CCG and other partners.  

1.2 Designated Doctor and Nurse for Looked After Children 

The Designated Doctor and Nurse roles are strategic and take a professional lead across the health 

economy on all aspects of looked after children. They provide expert clinical advice to the CCGs and 

partner agencies on specific health needs of looked after children.  

The statutory responsibility for CCGs to have these roles in place is clearly articulated in Promoting 

the Health and well-being of looked after children (2015). 

Currently the Kent CCGs have one full time Designated Nurse to cover the seven CCGs. The 

recommendation for Kent is five full time nurses. Despite agreement for a second nurse to be 

recruited, it has not been possible to appoint to the second post. Kent has an interim Designated 

Doctor in post working one day a week. The recommended capacity for Kent is five days a week. 

Despite agreement for the recruitment, it has not been possible to appoint to this post.  

                                                                                                                                                                     
3
’https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/who-pays.pdf 

 

Page 103

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/who-pays.pdf


 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 4 
 

There is a national shortage of paediatricians and nurses with the appropriate knowledge and skills 

to undertake the designated role; the shortage of community paediatricians in the South East has 

exacerbated the problem. The limited capacity within the designated professionals restricts their 

ability to provide assurance to the CCGs that they are meeting their statutory duty and supporting 

the health economy in improving health outcomes for looked after children. 

2.  Achievements 

2.1 Improving Outcomes through Collaboration       

In 2015 there was a significant increase in the population of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 

Children (UASC) in Kent, requiring the development of a large amount of health resources. In 

recognition of the need for this learning to be disseminated across the Country NHS England asked 

the team to deliver two national conferences to share Kent’s learning around unaccompanied 

asylum-seeking children. The conferences took place in May and June 2018, one in Northampton 

and one in Leeds.  

The conferences were opened by Lord Dubs, an established advocate for the rights of refugee and 

unaccompanied children. They were facilitated by a Kent unaccompanied asylum seeking young 

person. The agenda’s included guest speakers covering mental health, the legal implications and 

insights into work undertaken by other organisations with this vulnerable group of children and 

young people. Two young people (supported by The Children’s Society) shared their journey to the 

UK and their hopes/ dreams for the future with the delegates. The impact of the presentation by the 

young people and description of how they travelled to the UK had a profound impact on all who 

attended the events. 

The two events were very well attended with 96% of the feedback stating they were ‘excellent’ or 

‘very good’ 

All the products used during the conference days are available for national use via the website.  

Please visit the UASC Health website: www.uaschealth.org  

 

2.2 Improving the Life Chances of Children in Care 

Designated Consultant Nurse Nancy Sayer appeared as a guest speaker at the Manchester 

‘Improving the Life Chances of Children in Care’ national conference in December 2018 talking about 

the health needs of unaccompanied asylum seeking children and young people. 

2.3 Buckingham Palace 

Designated Consultant Nurse Nancy Sayer attended Buckingham Palace for an evening reception 

hosted by the Prince of Wales on 24th March 2018. The event was celebrating the nursing 

profession across the United Kingdom; Nancy was invited in recognition of her leadership in the field 

of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. 

 

Page 104

http://www.uaschealth.org/


 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 5 
 

2.4 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 

Designated Consultant Nurse Nancy Sayer has been appointed as a NICE Committee Member 

revising the Looked after Children and Young Peoples Guidance. Her expertise will impact the 

development of the new NICE guidelines for looked after children. This is a 2 year post. 

2.5 Looked After Children NHS England Clinical Reference Group 

Designated Consultant Nurse Nancy Sayer is the representative for the South East Region. The group 

works to reduce unwarranted variation across England and raise the profile of looked after children 

and care leavers at a national level.  

2.6 LAC Health and Social Care - Networking & Development Day 

Following a peer review by the Royal College of Paediatricians and Child Health on looked after 

children’s services, the team, together with the East Kent Children’s Commissioning team held a 

network & development day on 24th April 2018. Attendees included representation from Kent 

County Council, health providers, commissioners and social care, including foster carers and young 

people. This was a collaborative event that supported a greater understanding of the impact each 

service had on the life of a child in the care system, how we can work more closely together to 

improve the outcomes of our children and young people.   

2.7 Gangs Training 

In September the team organised ‘Gang’s Need to Know’ training to raise awareness of the growing 

concern around Gangs and the links to vulnerable children and young people. A range of agencies 

attended, including foster carers and elected members from across the county. The training was 

designed to assist staff in identifying safeguarding risks, be aware of warning signs and indicators. In 

addition it provided staff with a better understanding of Gang terminology and methods used to 

target looked after children. The event had 95 delegates in attendance from 10 agencies 

representing at least 14 different services.    

2.8 Medical Advisers Training 

On 21st May 2018 the Designated Consultant Nurse Nancy Sayer and the Designated Doctor, Dr 

Georgie Siggers conducted training for the Medical Advisers regarding sharing of good practice with 

prospective adopters about health and future implications of children being placed for adoption. The 

session was very well attended. 

 3.  Corporate Parenting 

Corporate parenting is the term used to describe the responsibility of the local authority towards 

looked after children and young people. Accountability and scrutiny for the services provided to the 

looked after child from multi-agency partners is directed through the Corporate Parenting Board. 

The Designated Consultant Nurse for Looked After Children and the Chief Nurse for the East Kent 

CCGs represent the seven Kent CCGs at the Kent Corporate Parenting Board. 

Page 105



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 6 
 

4.  National Profile 

At 31st March 2018, the numbers of children looked after by local authorities in England increased, 

up 4% to 75,420 from 72,590 in 2017, continuing increases seen in recent years. This is equivalent to 

a rate of 64 per 10,000 in 2018, which is up from 62 per 10,000 in 2017 and 60 per 10,000 in 2016. 

The number of children starting to be looked after has fallen slightly this year, by 3%, after a period 

of gradual increases. 32,050 children started to be looked after in the year ending 31st March 2018, 

down from 32,940 in 2017. 

The number ceasing to be looked after has fallen again by 5% to 29,860 from a high of 31,850 in 

2016. After falls in the last 3 years, the average duration of the latest period of care rose slightly this 

year, up from 758 days in 2017 to 772 days in 2018.  

Note: National data is published in September for the previous financial year. Therefore the most up 

to date national data available for this report is March 2018. 

 

Page 106



 

 
 

5.  Kent Profile  

 

P
age 107



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 8 
 

 

 

P
age 108



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 9 
 

 

P
age 109



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 10 
 

 

P
age 110



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 11 
 

 

P
age 111



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 12 
 

 

P
age 112



 

 
 

6.  Initial Health Assessments (IHA) & Review Health Assessments (RHA) Performance Data 

The statutory timeframe to complete IHA’s for children and young people who are looked after is 

20 working days of them entering care  

Initial health assessments are part of an on-going process of care planning which provides a view of 

a children’s health on becoming looked after. A report and health care plan that becomes integral to 

managing each child’s health is completed to address existing and previously undiagnosed health 

concerns. The inability or delays in completing IHAs result in failure to adequately meet the health 

needs of these children. 

Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups commission two organisations to undertake statutory initial 

health assessments; Kent Community Health Foundation Trust and East Kent Hospitals University 

Foundation Trust. The key performance indicator (KPI) for the completion of initial health 

assessments within the statutory timeframe is 85%. The table below details the performance of the 

two Trusts over the year covered by this report.  

The health assessment pathway is a jointly owned by Kent County Council and health. Of the 20 

working days given to complete the assessment, the first five days are used by the local authority to 

request the assessment from health, this gives health 15 working days to appoint, carry out the 

assessment and return the completed assessment to the requesting social worker.  The table below 

show the fluctuation in compliance quarter on quarter, the numbers and accountability of both 

organisations for the breaches to the timeframe.  

Examples of reasons for assessments not being completed within the statutory time frame are: 

 Late requests from the local authority 

 Lack of clinical capacity 

 Cancellation of appointment by either the foster carer or young person 

 Delayed completion of report 

 Incomplete request/lack of appropriate consent for assessment  

 

Initial Health Assessment Performance April 2018 – March 2019 

  
Number of 
referrals 
requiring IHA 

Number of IHAs 
completed within 
timescales 

KPI compliance  
Breaches due to social 
care (KCC) 

Breaches due to 
health  

            

Quarter 1 104 95 91% 8 1 

Quarter 2  97 67 69% 21 9 

Quarter 3 109 72 66% 17 20 

Quarter 4 129 103 80% 19 7 

Whole Year 439 337 77% 65 37 

 

Page 113



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 14 
 

 

A Statutory Review Health Assessment is required every year for children and young people 

over the age of 5 years who are Looked After and every six months for children under the age of 

5 years 

Review health assessments provide an opportunity to reassess a looked after child’s health, 

address any health needs identified and check that the previous action plan has been completed. 

It also provides an opportunity for the child/young person and/or carer to discuss health 

concerns; physical, sexual or emotional. 

Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups commission Kent Community Health Foundation Trust to 

provide the looked after children specialist nursing team, covering the whole County to 

undertake statutory review health assessments and other work detailed in the statutory guidance 

(DfE & DoH, 2015). The key performance indicator (KPI) for the completion of review health 

assessments within the statutory timeframe is 90%. The table below details the performance 

over the year covered by this report.  

The health assessment pathway is a jointly owned by Kent County Council and health. The table 

below show that the KPI was met and exceeded in three out of the four quarters. In 2017 the 

CCGs provided the Trust with additional investment for the nursing team, enabling a further 

three full time nurses to be employed. The significant improvement in the performance of the 

team in completing statutory assessments is a direct result of this investment. There remain a 

small number of assessments that breach the timeframe and the numbers and accountability of 

both organisations are detailed in the table below.  

Examples of reasons for assessments not being completed within the statutory time frame are: 

 Late requests from the local authority 

 Was Not Brought / Did Not Attend 

 Cancellation of appointment by either the foster carer or young person 

 Placement move 

 

 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

IHA Performance April 2018 - March 2019  

Number of referrals requiring IHA

Number of IHAs completed within
timescales

Breaches due to social care (KCC)

Breaches due to health

Not completed no reason given

Page 114



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 15 
 

Review Health Assessment Performance April 2018 – March 2019 

  
Total requests 
due in quarter 

Number of RHAs completed 
within timescales 

KPI 
compliance 

Breaches due to 
social care (KCC) 

Breaches due to 
health (KCHFT) 

  

Quarter 1           

RHA 0-5 72 65 90% 6 1 

RHA 5-18 251 242 96% 8 1 

Quarter 2            

RHA 0-5 52 51 98% 1 0 

RHA 5-18 315 305 97% 9 1 

Quarter 3           

RHA 0-5 46 43 93% 2 1 

RHA 5-18  248 236 95% 11 1 

Quarter 4           

RHA 0-5 34 30 88% 2 2 

RHA 5-18  221 214 97% 5 2 

Whole year           

RHA 0-5 204 189 93% 11 4 

RHA 5-18  1035 997 96% 33 5 

 

 

7.  Responsibility of CCGs for Children Placed Out of Area 

 

Kent CCGs are the responsible commissioner of health services for children who are taken into care 

by Kent local authority and they also have a responsibility for children placed into the county. 

7.1 The responsible commissioner  
 
When looked after children are placed out of area it is the responsibility of the originating local 

authority as lead agency to advise the CCG to ensure that children maintain access to relevant health 

services, including the originating CCG and the receiving CCG where the child or young person has 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

RHA performance April 2018 - March 2019  

Total requests due in quarter

Number of RHAs completed within
timescales

Breaches due to social care (KCC)

Breaches due to health (KCHFT)

Not completed no reason given

Page 115



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 16 
 

been placed. The originating local authority has a shared responsibility with the originating CCG to 

ensure that a full health assessment is undertaken and that a health plan is drawn up. It remains the 

responsibility of the originating CCG to commission the LAC statutory health assessments.   

 

The Department of Health with NHS England, Monitor, the Royal Colleges and other partners, 

developed a mandatory national currency and tariff for statutory health assessments for looked-

after children placed out of area. Further guidance on the funding of health services in the receiving 

CCG is set out in ‘’Who Pays? Determining Responsibility for payments to providers (NHS England, 

2013) provides guidance on how to determine who pays for health services for looked after children 

who are placed out of area’’ 2013. 

 

7.2 Kent Children Placed with Other Local Authorities (KOLA)   
There are a variety of reasons why looked after children would be placed outside of Kent and at the 

time of writing this report, there were 205 Kent looked after children placed out of Kent local 

authority boundaries.  

 

The provider organisation is responsible for coordinating the completion of health assessments for 

those young people placed out of area. The provider organisation refers to the receiving CCG and 

receiving provider organisation to request the completion of a health assessment. Quality assurance 

that the health needs are being met is addressed via a quality assurance tool and there is an 

escalation process in place to the Designated Consultant Nurse for Looked After Children, should 

there be any challenges.  

 

7.3 Children Placed in Kent by Other Local Authorities (OLA)  

At the time of writing this report there are currently 1363 looked after children placed in Kent from 

other local authorities, however this number is potentially higher. As previously mentioned; the 

originating local authority have a responsibility to inform the receiving  CCG of any new placement 

to ensure that the health needs are met however this continues to be an ongoing challenge as there 

is significant variation in the notification process from other local authorities.     

 

The originating CCG and provider organisation have a responsibility to coordinate and request the 

completion of the statutory health assessment. Requests are generally made directly to the provider 

organisation and they have employed two looked after children nurses solely with a view to 

complete out of area health assessment requests, therefore retaining any income generated.    

 

8.  Care Leavers 

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 required local authorities to provide support to care leavers 

until their 25th birthday, and to publish the local offer to this group of young people. The Act did not 

require health to have an additional responsibly towards care leavers above what is set out in 

Promoting the Health of Looked After Children (2015). This document states that Clinical 

Commissioning Groups must be mindful of the specific requirements of care leavers as detailed in 

the Leaving Care Act 2000 when commissioning health provision. In addition they are required to 

ensure that plans are in place to enable young people leaving care to continue to obtain the 

healthcare they need and that arrangements are in place to ensure a smooth transition from child to 

adult services.  

Page 116



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 17 
 

Young people leaving the care system in Kent are provided with a personal health history, a vital 

record of the young person’s health from birth to their 18th birthday. In addition information and 

advice on how to access universal health services and other services to improve outcomes is 

provided alongside the personalised health history.  

Kent Community Health Foundation Trust is commissioned to provide health histories. During 2018-

19 the organisation provided all our young people leaving care with a personalised health history, 

meeting their key performance indicator of 100%. 

9.  Adoption 

9.1 Adoption Medical Services in Kent 

Adoption medical services in Kent are provided by two different Trusts, Kent Community Health 

Foundation Trust (KCHFT) and East Kent Hospitals University Foundation Trust (EKHUFT), supported 

by the KCHFT Looked After Children’s Health Admin Hub and respective locality based administrative 

support. There are a total of 5 experienced Adoption Medical Advisers working across Kent who 

overall have a good working relationship with the KCC Adoption team. The Medical Adviser role4 is 

undertaken by experienced Community Paediatricians who have a broader remit in developmental 

paediatrics and in safeguarding thereby bringing a holistic approach and the necessary 

competencies5 to this sphere of their activity. Health information is gathered by the Medical 

Advisers in order to provide advice at key points in a child’s journey.  This includes the ‘Agency 

Decision Maker Stage’ ensuring that health needs and risks for a child are known in the permanency 

decision making process (including for Court) and ‘Family finding stage’ so that any linked family are 

aware of a child’s health and development issues or future risks. The Medical advisers provide 

training to prospective adopters on one afternoon a month. They aim to meet with all prospective 

adopters who are matched with a child to inform them of health risks and answer any queries and 

then attend the Adoption Panel to provide health oversight  and serving as a panel member 

providing quality assurance and recommendation regarding a matching approval. 

 

 

2018/2019 Adoption Figures 
No. of children waiting for adoption order at 31 March 2019           KCC provisional data 66 (40 with  adopters) 

No. of adoption matches between 1 April 2018 – 31 March 2019    KCC provisional data 82 

No. of training sessions for Prospective adopters by M. Adviser       KCC confirmed data 9 

No. of adoption medicals per year    KCHFT LAC hub data 110 

No. of meetings with prospective adopters    KCHFT LAC hub data 67 

No. of adoption panels attended (and as a %)  KCC confirmed data 41 (100%) 

No. of adult health assessment reports  KCHFT/EKUFHT data 152 approx. 

 

9.2 Adoption Health Pathway Redesign 

Despite a high level of good quality work, there have been many challenges in providing the health 

input to adoption in Kent. In 2018 the RCPCH undertook an invited service review of looked after 

children’s services; additionally there was an audit of the adoption health provision. This identified 

unwarranted variation across Kent despite recognition of importance of consistency and parity of 

                                                      
4
 https://www.paediatricsandchildhealthjournal.co.uk/article/S1751-7222(17)30174-9/fulltext 

5
 https://www.bacch.org.uk/publications/documents/MedicalAdvisersinAdoptionandFostering.pdf 

 

Page 117

https://www.paediatricsandchildhealthjournal.co.uk/article/S1751-7222(17)30174-9/fulltext
https://www.bacch.org.uk/publications/documents/MedicalAdvisersinAdoptionandFostering.pdf


 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 18 
 

service to all children being placed for adoption. An adoption health pathway redesign commenced 

with a multiagency workshop in April 2018 continuing with subsequent stakeholder meetings and 

consultations. Building on best practice from across the county, the new pathway has been 

designed, promoting a virtual team approach in order to give robust medical advice and make it 

easier to plan and avoid delay for children in the adoption process. 

10.  Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children  

The Home Office guidance, Processing an Asylum Application from a child (2013), states an 

unaccompanied asylum-seeking child (UASC) is ‘a person under the age of 18 years of age who is 

applying for asylum in their own right; and is separated from both parents and is not being cared for 

by an adult who in law or by custom has responsibility to do so’. They further advise that ‘where the 

person’s age is in doubt, he/she should be treated as a child unless and until a full age assessment 

shows him/her to be an adult’.  

If on arrival and following the initial assessment by the authorities the young person seeking asylum 

is under 18 years and without an adult to care of them they are considered a UASC and the local 

authority has a duty under s.20 of the Children Act 1989 to accommodate them. The UASC becomes 

a looked after child and is entitled to all the statutory service afforded to other looked after children.   

10.1 National Profile 

Applications by UASC during quarter 4 of 2019 were 900 which was an increase on the three 

previous quarters.  

 Q1 2018 Q2 2018 Q3 2018 Q4 2019 

Asylum applications by 

Unaccompanied Children 

Seeking Asylum (excl. 

dependants) 

600 (61 female) 573 (61 female) 

 

799 (90 female) 900 (107 female) 

https://refugeecouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Asylum_Statistics_Mar_2019.pdf 

There are eight countries that account for over 90% of applications for asylum by children. These are 

detailed in the table below. The majority of children applying for asylum are male, with 88% of the 

900 arrivals in quarter 4 being male.  

Country  Percentage Country Percentage 

Eritrea 24% Sudan 14% 

Iraq 12% Iran 11% 

Vietnam 11% Albania 10% 

Afghanistan  6% Ethiopia  3% 

 

The health needs of this vulnerable group are significant in both physical and mental health; this is 

due in part to poor access to basic healthcare in their home country and the trauma experienced on 

their journey to the UK. Physical health needs include communicable diseases, dental health, 

anaemia and skin problems. 

The mental health of these children and young people is also poor, with symptoms being reported in 

up to 48% of UASC. A recent report, Distress Signals – Unaccompanied Young People’s Struggle for 

Page 118

https://refugeecouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Asylum_Statistics_Mar_2019.pdf


 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 19 
 

Mental Health Support (The Children’s Society, 2018) highlighted the need to improve the provision 

of services for this group, stating it can be up to one year after arrival before a young person feels 

able to talk about the trauma.  

10.2 Kent Profile of Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children 

Kent has always received unaccompanied asylum seeking children and young people due to its close 

proximity to Europe and the Port of Dover and channel tunnel. However, in 2015-16 Kent saw a 

significant number of UASC entering the county, the number of new arrivals was unprecedented and 

placed increased burden on already overstretched services.  

The National Transfer Scheme (NTS), introduced in July 2016 as a voluntary scheme intended to 

ensure the burden of the increased numbers of UASC were shared across the Country has had only 

very limited success. Currently Kent is not part of the scheme due to the long delays in transferring 

UASC to other areas and the need to provide care and support under the looked after children 

framework.  

Since the influx in 2015/16 the numbers have reduced and the table below shows three years data 

with the most recent being this reporting year. However, it must be noted that November 2018 and 

March 2019 saw the highest number of new arrivals for those months in the three years.  

 

       

 

The countries of origin of the 189 new arrivals during this reporting year is detailed in the table 

below, with Eritrea being the country of origin of the majority of the new arrivals, this reflects the 

national profile, as does the fact that most of the new arrivals are male.   

 

 

 

Page 119



 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 20 
 

Country  Percentage (Number) Country Percentage (Number) 

Eritrea 24% (46) Sudan 12% (22) 

Iraq 21% (39) Iran 16% (31) 

Vietnam   4%   (8) Albania   8% (15) 

Afghanistan   7% (13) Ethiopia   2%   (3) 

Guinea   2%   (3) Sierra Leone    1%  (2) 

Chad 0.5%  (1) Egypt 0.5% (1) 

Kenya 0.5%  (1) Senegal  0.5% (1) 

Morocco 0.5%  (1) Syria 0.5% (1) 

Somalia 0.5%  (1)   

 

Of the 1165 unaccompanied asylum seeking children and young people that Kent County Council 

have responsibility for; 253 are under the age of 18 and 912 are 18 years and over. The majority are 

placed in the county, with 41 placed in neighbouring areas, of which 15 are placed in Medway. 

The numbers of over 18’s reflect the high numbers that entered the county during 2015/16. The 

burden of health need now falls to adult health services as CCGs only have a statutory responsibility 

to provide a specialist service to looked after children under the age of 18.   

Initial and review health assessments are undertaken by our specialist Looked After Children’s team. 

As alluded to earlier in this section, the health needs of this group are significant and unknown on 

arrival. It is vital that a comprehensive initial health assessment is undertaken to assess health and 

devise a health plan to meet the health needs identified. The health assessment template used for 

UASC has been adapted from the standard CoramBAAF template (with their permission) to reflect 

the different needs of this group. Due to the unknown health needs all new arrivals are started on 

the full UK vaccination schedule and screened for TB. Blood born infection testing is also undertaken 

where it is deemed to be appropriate.  

As a result of the challenges experienced in 2015/16 the Kent CCG Looked After Children’s Health 

team developed a significant amount of guidance, templates, tools, translated material and 

video/podcasts to support any health professional or other professionals working with UASC. All the 

materials are now available on a website. The website is seen by NHS England as a national exemplar 

of good practice and their continuing financial support has allowed it to continue to be used across 

the county, supporting improved outcomes and reducing unwarranted variation. The website can be 

found at www.uaschealth.org  

 

11.  Priorities 

11.1 Providers 

The Kent CCGs Looked After Children’s team strives to: 

 Continue to support our providers in meeting the statutory timeframes for initial health 

assessments and review health assessments through collaboration, a close working 

relationship and a shared vision to improve the outcomes for looked after children.  

 Continue to improve the quality of the written health assessments and to ensure the voice 

of the child is heard throughout the documentation.  

Page 120

http://www.uaschealth.org/


 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 21 
 

The Kent CCGs Looked After Children’s team will continue to support the provider in working in a 

more proactive and preventative way; to enable them deliver their programme with partner 

agencies to help improve the emotional wellbeing of children and young people in care.    

The Kent CCGs Looked After Children’s team will assist in the embedding of the new adoption 

pathway with our providers and relevant agencies; aimed to reduce the variation in service provision 

for our children and young people being placed for adoption.  

The Kent CCGs Looked After Children’s team strive to create regular networking opportunities to 

facilitate the sharing of best practice and peer review to further develop the good working 

relationships with and between our two providers.  

11.2 Adoption Regionalisation  

In June 2015 the government set out a plan of regionalisation of adoption services6 as Regional 

Adoption Agencies (RAAs). The Department for Education (DfE) directed that all local authorities join 

larger regional groups of authorities and Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAAs) to redesign the 

adoption system in their areas, providing excellent adoption services with a strong focus on 

innovation and practice. This move has been underpinned by the Children and Families Act 2014 and 

in July 2016 a DfE publication: ‘Putting Children First: delivering our vision for excellent children’s 

social care.’7 The DfE expects all local authorities to become part of a Regional Adoption Agency 

(RAA) by 20208 with Kent, Medway and Bexley looking to work together.910 Medical advisers are 

integral to the adoption process. 

 RAA, together with Kent, Medway and Bexley CCGs will set up a health work stream 

consulting with CCGs and providers regarding upcoming changes.  

 The Kent wide adoption health redesign will provide a useful starting point as the Medical 

Advisers begin to collaborate across a wider region to look at best medical practice and 

processes across Kent, Medway and Bexley ensuring that ‘Health’ are contributing to the 

timely placement of children for whom adoption is the right option.  

11.3 Develop a Kent and Medway CCG wide Looked After Children and Special Educational Needs 

and Disabilities Team 

Following a period of consultation and a paper being presented to the Kent Joint Executive Group by 

the East Kent Chief Nurse it was agreed that the Kent CCGs Looked After Children team would 

become a Kent and Medway wide team and encompass Special Educational Needs & Disability 

(SEND). Both specialties cover the Sustainability & Transformation Partnership (STP) footprint and 

due to the significant numbers of our looked after children and young people who have a special 

educational need/disability it was felt that combining both teams would ensure the best possible 
                                                      
6
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/437128/Regionalisin

g_adoption.pdf 
7
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/554573/Putting_children_first_deliverin

g_vision_excellent_childrens_social_care.pdf 
8
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512826/Adoption_Policy_Paper_30_Mar 
ch_2016.pdf 
9
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/6/crossheading/adoption?view=interweave 

10
 https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s83529/Item%2010%20-%20Regional%20Adoption%20Agency.pdf 

 

Page 121

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/437128/Regionalising_adoption.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/437128/Regionalising_adoption.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/554573/Putting_children_first_delivering_vision_excellent_childrens_social_care.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/554573/Putting_children_first_delivering_vision_excellent_childrens_social_care.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512826/Adoption_Policy_Paper_30_Mar%20ch_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512826/Adoption_Policy_Paper_30_Mar%20ch_2016.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/6/crossheading/adoption?view=interweave
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s83529/Item%2010%20-%20Regional%20Adoption%20Agency.pdf


 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 22 
 

outcomes for our children through improved communication, understanding and support. The new 

arrangements will come into force in June 2019 and the following will be undertaken in the next 

year: 

 Continue to recruit to vacant posts to full establishment  

 Develop consistent approaches across STP footprint  for the best possible outcomes for 

children who are looked after and have special educational needs and disability  

11.4 Develop a health needs profile of Looked After Children, including those with Special 

Educational Needs & Disability, in Kent and Medway 

Understanding the health needs of this vulnerable population will support the commissioning of 

services across Kent. Providing targeted support to those involved in the care of our children will 

increase the likelihood of improved outcomes. This includes an understanding of the emotional well-

being and mental health needs.  The team will: 

 

 Collaborate with Public Health to undertake a health needs analysis  

 Work with our Providers in gathering information obtained during statutory health 

assessments  

11.5 Strengthening links and building understanding among Primary Care Colleagues 

The Kent CCG Looked after Children’s team have identified a priority area to strengthen links with 

primary care colleagues and develop understanding of the health and related needs of looked after 

children. This will ensure that general practitioners in Kent meet their responsibilities towards 

looked after children working to gain the best outcomes within available resources. This area of 

work will include:  

 Developing policies and guidance regarding continuity of and appropriateness of health care 

provision for children who move, particularly those placed out of area. The Looked After 

Children Designates CCG team will work on guidance in order to advice Primary Care 

Networks (general practitioners) regarding benchmarking and auditing their performance 

against NICE guidelines and quality standards that are relevant to looked after children.  

 

 Developing and delivering an effective communication strategy to reach all general 

practitioners within Kent in order to share best practice guidance, policy, information 

regarding relevant specialist health services and training opportunities.  

 

 Advising on relevant training needs for primary care staff and GPs in line with the 

intercollegiate document.11 The Looked After Children Designates CCG team will additionally 

develop and provide training, advice, case-focused support and supervision to any general 

practitioners offering specific health services to looked after children. 

 

 

 

 
                                                      
11

  Intercollegiate_Looked_after_children_Knowledge__skills_and_competence_o.._.pdf 

Page 122

file:///Y:/CCG%20Shared/ASHETON/VIM_ThanetCCG/EK%20Childrens%20Commissioning%20Team/Looked%20After%20Children/Government%20Documents%20and%20Guidance/National%20LAC%20Guidance/Intercollegiate_Looked_after_children_Knowledge__skills_and_competence_o.._.pdf


 

Looked After Children Team – Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups Page 23 
 

11.6 Mental Health Foster Carer Training 

Currently within a foster placement when child or young person starts to display signs and 

symptoms of a mental health need, there is no immediate provision to address this without referral 

to the local mental health provider (North East London Foundation Trust- NELFT). Referral and 

assessment waiting times are likely to result in the symptoms escalating in the meantime, and in 

turn this can increase the potential for placement difficulties and/ or breakdown. The NICE 

guidance12 and the social care institute for excellence13 recommends that foster cares are provided 

with training from specialist mental health services. If foster carers were empowered14 to identify 

the need and provide low-level interventions for children and young people in their care the risk of 

escalating difficulties leading to potential placement breakdown is reduced15.  

 Kent Local Transformation Plan to fund the provision of training around children and young 

people’s mental health and emotional wellbeing  

 Work collaboratively with Kent County Council on providing appropriate training  to foster 

carers and prospective adopters  

 

The Kent Looked after Children Team can be contacted on the following email 

address:  TCCG.CCGLACEnquiries@nhs.net 

 

End of Report 

 

                                                      
12

 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph28 
 
13

 https://www.scie.org.uk/files/children/care/mental-health/recommendations/improving-mental-health-support-for-

our-children-and-young-people-full-report.pdf 

14
 https://bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12888-017-1260-z 

 
15

 https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/070674371105600505 

Page 123

mailto:TCCG.CCGLACEnquiries@nhs.net
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph28
https://www.scie.org.uk/files/children/care/mental-health/recommendations/improving-mental-health-support-for-our-children-and-young-people-full-report.pdf
https://www.scie.org.uk/files/children/care/mental-health/recommendations/improving-mental-health-support-for-our-children-and-young-people-full-report.pdf
https://bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12888-017-1260-z
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/070674371105600505


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 25 July 2019
	OCYPC update text

	5 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	6 Report on Looked After Children and Custody
	7 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care
	Item 7 Appx - Corporate Parenting Scorecard - Seot 2019

	8 Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 2018 / 2019 and Kent Adoption Service Business Plan 2019
	Item 8 Appx A - Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 2018-19 (003)
	Item 8 Appx B - Adoption Business Plan 2019-20

	9 SEND Action Plan / Children in Care with Education, Care and Health Plans (6 monthly review)
	10 Looked After Children Annual Report for the Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups,  April 2018 - March 2019

